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Bermuda Commercial Bank Limited (‘BCB’) is Bermuda’s most 
innovative digital bank. Aside from our state-of-the art APIs and 
developer portal, we offer personal service to our customers through 
our Bermuda based relationship management team. We offer 
tailored financial solutions to Bermuda-based and international 
business customers, individual clients and service providers. Since 
1969, we have provided outstanding personal service to all our 
clients. We offer competitive banking products and services as well 
as direct API access, internet and mobile banking, consumer and 
commercial lending, and global custody and brokerage services.

The BCB Board has established a set of values that guide how 
we engage with clients, stakeholders and the community. These 
values are: 

•	 Deliver superior value for our stakeholders and the community

•	 Differentiate products and solutions through customer 
	 experience and innovation 

•	 Maintain a well-capitalised and liquid balance sheet

•	 Be accountable and always compliant in line with our Code 
	 of Conduct

•	 Promote respect and diversity 

Core Values
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EVOLUTION OF THE BANK

1969	The Bank is created by an Act of Parliament.

2010	 Majority shareholding in BCB purchased by an investor 	
	 group through Permanent Investments Limited.

2012	 BCB became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Somers 		
	 Limited and delisted from the Bermuda Stock Exchange.

2016	 BCB moved into its new owned premises at 34 		
	 Bermudiana Road, Hamilton.

2019	 BCB celebrated its 50-year anniversary.
 
2021	 The investment company, Base Financial Limited, 		
	 purchased BCB from Somers Limited.

2022	 Divested the trust and corporate services business together 	
	 with two minor operational subsidiaries.

History of Bermuda 
Commercial Bank
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I took over as Executive chair in February 2025, and as CEO from 
April 2025. 

2025 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
We aim to be the digital bank for fintech and digital asset businesses. 
We already bank the majority of the Bermuda registered digital asset 
community and are expanding our international customer base on 
a daily basis.

There has been pleasing progress across the business, particularly 
in the second half of the year. Significant growth in customer 
relationships has increased revenue against a flat cost base, moving 
BCB from material operating losses to a small monthly operating 
profit from August onwards.

LEADERSHIP
We have made significant improvements to our leadership bench 
strength, adding talent across BCB, particularly in change and 
technology where we have brought in expert leaders across Product, 
Change and Technology, and their impact is already being seen in 
the delivery of new and innovative solutions to our customers.

REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT 
We continue to operate with a strong compliance posture and a 
collaborative relationship with the Bermuda Monetary Authority. As 
regulatory expectations for digital assets evolve, we are committed 
to leading through disciplined governance, financial crime controls 
and operational resilience. Our technology investment has been 
matched by enhancements in transaction monitoring, cyber 
security and oversight, ensuring growth is balanced with safe scale 
and regulatory confidence.

PEOPLE
We have deployed state of the art tools to support performance 
management and people development. It was pleasing to see a 
material turnaround in staff engagement during the year, with net 
promoter score increasing by over one hundred points in the second 
half. We have promoted several of our Bermuda-based team during 
the year, and with the substantially improved financial performance, 
it was pleasing to be able to return to paying staff bonuses this year.

We remain committed to developing local talent and contributing 
to Bermuda’s financial services ecosystem, with a clear focus on 
skills, progression and long-term community participation.

TECHNOLOGY
Historically BCB has outsourced its technology management 
and relied on out-dated tooling. We have established a fully-
fledged technology function across service management, 
software engineering and product. We have delivered a range of 
improvements across BCB ranging from deploying Microsoft 365 
and enabling the use of Copilot AI, to the delivery of our digital 
onboarding journey, API suite and Virtual account solution.

In parallel with these upgrades, we enhanced our operational 
resilience framework, including business continuity, cyber 
protection and modernised control tooling across AML/CTF, 
allowing us to scale digital services responsibly and securely.

CUSTOMER PROPOSITION
We developed and launched a full API suite and continue to make 
ongoing improvements to our API offering and developer portal. 
Our developer experience is by some distance the best in our local 
market and stands comparison with the best in the world. We aim 
to deliver the world’s best developer experience and have further 
improvements planned for 2026 to ensure that we do just that.

During the year we built and launched a state-of-the art digital 
customer on-boarding tool which supports same day account 
opening, a material improvement vs the norm in our local market. 
We have launched a full suite of API integrations, web-hooks and 
attendant developer portal, which have been well received by our 
tech-first target customers. “Digital Banking” is no longer about 
websites and apps!

LOOKING FORWARD TO 2026
As we move into 2026, the first customers are going live with our 
“virtual account” solution, which allows customers to open and 
manage accounts on behalf of their underlying customers via API. 
The first users are digital assets businesses that need a fiat currency 
on/off ramp, although we expect a broader range of use cases. 
Feedback from customers is very positive, the product is unique in 
Bermuda, and we believe compares well with the best offerings of 
our international competitors.

We will completely replace our online banking portal with a new in-
house built solution in 2026 and upgrade our order management 
and execution capability for our investment’s customers.

We expect the first AI and automation use cases to deploy during 
2026, allowing us to continue our impressive growth rate, without a 
commensurate increase in operating cost, driving profitability and 
increasing ROE.

Financially we expect to be profitable for the full financial year and 
to begin to self-generate capital.

It has been a pleasure to lead BCB in FY2025, and I am excited by 
our plans for the upcoming year.

ANDY MIELCZAREK,
EXECUTIVE CHAIR AND CEO 
BERMUDA COMMERCIAL BANK 
DECEMBER 19 2025

Chairman’s Statement



ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARDSHIP
We are acutely aware of the environmental challenges facing Bermuda, 
particularly the warming of our oceans and the associated increase 
in hurricane intensity and climate-related risk. In response, we are 
committed to actively managing our environmental footprint and 
strengthening climate resilience through:

•	 Supporting financing for projects that enhance marine 	
	 resilience, climate adaptation, renewable energy, and 	
	 sustainable infrastructure.
•	 Continuous monitoring and reduction of our operational 	
	 carbon footprint through energy efficiency, responsible 	
	 procurement, and digital transformation.
•	 Consideration of physical climate risk, including hurricane 	
	 exposure and climate stress scenarios, within our risk 	
	 management framework.
•	 Alignment with international best practices and emerging 	
	 climate risk disclosure standards.

 
Through these measures, Bermuda Commercial Bank aims to 
play a constructive role in safeguarding the island’s environmental 
future while supporting sustainable economic development.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Our social strategy focuses on supporting people, communities, 
and inclusive economic growth, with a particular emphasis on 
addressing Bermuda’s cost of living challenges:

•	 Promoting financial inclusion and access to banking services for 	
	 underserved segments with a strong focus on 		
	 customer protection, transparency, and service delivery.
•	 Supporting affordable home ownership by offering highly 	
	 competitive mortgage products designed to ease the cost 	
	 burden on local families and first-time buyers.

•	 Commitment to fair employment practices, together 		
	 with investment in employee development, wellbeing, and 	
	 professional growth.
•	 Active community engagement through targeted social 	
	 initiatives and partnerships.

 
This commitment reflects our belief that accessible housing finance 
is a cornerstone of social wellbeing and sustainable economic 
participation in Bermuda.

GOVERNANCE EXCELLENCE
We maintain robust governance structures to ensure accountability, 
transparency, and regulatory alignment:

•	 Independent Board oversight with clearly defined roles 	
	 and responsibilities.
•	 Strong risk management framework increasingly integrated 	
	 with ESG considerations.
•	 Strict compliance with regulatory, AML/CFT, and ethical standards.
•	 Transparent reporting and disclosure practices. 
•	 Regular review of governance policies to align with evolving 	
	 regulatory and industry expectations.

OUR ONGOING COMMITMENT
BCB continues to refine its ESG framework through policy 
development, data-driven monitoring, and alignment with global 
standards. We are committed to evolving our ESG practices in step 
with regulatory developments, stakeholder expectations, and the 
long-term sustainability of the communities we serve.
. 
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Environment, Social and Governance (ESG)
Bermuda Commercial Bank has played a critical role in Bermuda’s financial services industry since 1969 and recognises that strong 
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) practices are fundamental to sustainable value creation, risk management, and long-term 
stakeholder trust. Our ESG framework is embedded within our strategy, operating model, and decision-making processes, reflecting our 
commitment to responsible banking and inclusive economic development.
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Board of Directors

ANDY MIELCZAREK (CHAIR)
Mr. Mielczarek has over 30 years of experience in financial services. 
He founded and led Chetwood Bank, growing it from start-up to a 
multi-billion institution, and previously held senior roles at HSBC, 
including Deputy Head of UK Retail Banking and leadership 
positions across Continental Europe. A Chartered Accountant, 
he also served as CFO of Marks & Spencer Bank and worked with 
MBNA and Charles Schwab.

CHRIS MAYBURY (DEPUTY CHAIR)
Mr. Maybury is the founder and Chairman of Beacon Events. 
Chris has an extensive business background having held several 
senior positions. He also serves on the board of several charities 
and research organizations.

ANDREW BROOK (SENIOR INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR)
Mr. Brook is an experienced non-executive director and was 
formerly the Asset Management and Banking Leader at PwC 
Bermuda. Mr. Brook has over thirty years financial services 
experience as a director of financial institutions and in audit 
and advisory work, incorporating off-shore and on-shore 
regulatory expertise.

GREGORY GILMAN
Gregory Gilman is a financial executive with over 20 years of 
experience in banking, fintech, and digital assets. He is the 
Founder and CEO of Protego Holdings and Protego Trust, and 
co-founder of Science Inc. and RxVantage. With expertise in law, 
investment, and technology, he has driven innovation across the 
financial sector and serves on multiple corporate boards. 



	     7BOARD OF DIRECTORS

JEANNE ATHERDEN
Mrs. Atherden is a long-standing member of the board and 
brings over thirty years of accounting, finance and trust 
experience in management roles in several different business 
sectors in Bermuda. She is a Fellow of The Chartered 
Professional Accountants of Bermuda and a member of The 
Institute of Directors.

JASON WOODY
Mr. Woody is a Senior Managing Director at Palm Ventures specializing 
in private equity investments. He previously worked as an associate at 
Dubilier & Company and as an analyst in acquisition finance at Chase 
Securities. He holds a B.S. from Cornell University, an MBA from 
Babson College, and serves on several private company boards.  

RICHARD CROOK 
Richard Crook is a seasoned technology leader with over 25 
years in investment banking technology. He drives innovation 
in crypto and digital assets, delivering client-focused solutions 
for leading financial institutions. His career includes leadership 
roles at UBS, NatWest, LAB577, and BCB Group, where he 
specialized in optimizing client experience and service delivery.
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	     9MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

The MD&A is provided to enable users to assess the Bank’s results and performance for the year ended September 30, 2025 and should be 
read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements. Note that all references to BCB or the Bank refer to Bermuda Commercial 
Bank Limited and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. 

Management’s Discussion & Analysis

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2025
During the year, the Bank incurred a net loss (excluding one-off 
restructuring costs) of $6.2 million compared to a net loss of $10.6 
million in 2024. This 42% improvement in profitability was primarily 
due to higher net interest income, and active management of 
operating expenses and project costs.

NET INTEREST INCOME
Net interest income of $14.0 million for the year ended September 
30, 2025 was 19% higher than the $11.8 million achieved in 2024. 
The underlying growth was achieved in H2’25 in line with the 
corresponding increase in deposits achieved in the second-half of 
FY2025. Net Interest Margin of 2.70% (2024: 2.91%) was lower than 
prior-year primarily as a result of the lowering interest rate environment 
impacting the highly liquid asset component of the balance sheet.

Income Statement
Net interest Income	 $	 14.0	 $	 11.8	 19%	
Non interest Income	 $	 3.0	 $	 2.5	 19%
Total income	 $	 17.0	 $	 14.3	 19%	
Total expenses*	 $	 23.2	 $	 24.9 	 7% 
Net loss*	 $	 (6.2)	 $	 (10.6)	 42%
 	
Balance Sheet
Total assets	 $	 695.9	 $	 434.0	 60%	
Total deposits	 $	 623.1	 $	 371.4	 68%	
Total equity	 $	 63.9	 $	 52.7	 21%
* excludes one-off restructuring costs of $1.7m

	

2025  2024 % Change

INTRODUCTION
2025 marked the first year of the three-year transformation journey 
outlined in the prior annual report with significant progress made in 
growing the balance sheet, driving revenue growth and introducing 
digital products that make it easier for our clients to do business. 
We grew our deposit base substantially, which in turn expanded our 
asset base by more than 60%. This growth supported a stronger net 
interest margin and an improved underlying profitability, despite 
the full year loss as we repositioned and restructured the Bank. Our 
shareholders demonstrated continued confidence in the Bank’s 
future, providing an additional $20 million of equity capital during the 
period. This infusion strengthens our capital base and underpins our 
transition toward becoming a fully digital bank - a strategy designed 
to enhance customer experience, drive efficiency, and position us 
competitively in the global evolving financial services landscape.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
The financial results for the year reflect the early signs of growth, 
driven by our client-focused strategy and the impact of strategic 
restructuring reflected in the significant increase in deposits (+68%) 
that expanded our asset base by more than 60% and drove higher 
net interest margin and improved underlying profitability. At the 
same time, restructuring costs and investments in repositioning the 
Bank toward a digital future contributed to a full year loss. These 
actions, while affecting short term earnings, are essential to building 
a more efficient, technology driven institution capable of delivering 
sustainable returns in the years ahead. Our shareholders reinforced 
their confidence in this strategy by providing an additional $20 
million of equity capital, strengthening our capital adequacy and 
supporting future growth initiatives.

KEY FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS ($million)
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NON-INTEREST INCOME
The Bank recorded net non-interest income of $3.0 million 
which was 19% higher than the $2.5 million achieved in 2024. 
The composition of the non-interest income sources remained 
materially consistent with that of the previous year with fees and 
commissions income of $1.7 million (2024: $1.7 million) being the 
largest contributor. Moving forward, it is expected that transactional 
fee income will form a greater proportion of income for the Bank as 
our digital solutions for clients deliver the planned benefits.

EXPENSES
The Bank continues to focus on effective cost management. In 2025, 
the Bank’s total expenses, excluding one-off restructuring costs, 
amounted to $23.2 million, 7% lower than in 2024, as we focused 
on effective transformation and product delivery leveraging internal 
capabilities, rather than utilizing third-party suppliers. As we digitize 
the Bank and build new products for our customers with our own 
resource, the composition of our expense base will continue to evolve 
accordingly. We continue to set long-term, cost/income ratio targets 
that are akin to those achieved by Fintechs and fully digital banks.

FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT SEPTEMBER 30, 2025 
Assets
Total assets increased by 60% from prior year. Consistent with the 
shape of our deposit base, the Bank maintained a prudent level of 
liquid assets in line with the Bank’s liquidity management framework.
As at September 30, 2025, the Bank held cash and cash 
equivalents of $419.4 million that represented 60.3% of total 
assets compared to $206.8 million or 47.6% a year ago.  The 
Bank’s financial investment portfolio as at September 30, 2025 
was $164.6 million compared to $124.9 million a year ago.

The Bank’s investment portfolio is monitored across a wide range 
of risk and performance measures, and in accordance with its 
risk management framework, the portfolio is actively diversified at 
the industry, jurisdiction and counterparty level. The investment 

portfolio consisted primarily of government debt securities and 
corporate debt securities (non-banks).  

Liabilities
Total deposits increased by 68% and reached $623.1 million as at 
September 30, 2025 (2024: $371.4 million) as customers funded 
their accounts in response to new solutions introduced and the 
successful onboarding of new customers.

The chart above reflects the impact of transformation in the second 
half of the year and the pipeline of clients to onboard in 2026 
reinforces our confidence in achieving continued balance sheet 
growth and progressing towards sustainable profitability.

CAPITAL POSITION AS AT SEPTEMBER 30, 2025
BCB is subject to minimum capital requirements set by the Bermuda 
Monetary Authority (“BMA)” in accordance with guidelines developed 
by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. The Basel 
Committee’s standards for capital and liquidity, commonly referred 
to as “Basel III”, establish minimum requirements for common 
equity, a leverage ratio, a minimum Liquidity Coverage Ratio (“LCR”), 

HQLA Other Assets
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a minimum Net Stable Funding Ratio (“NSFR”), and measures 
to promote the build-up of capital. The Basel III minimum capital 
requirements include a 4.5% Common Equity Tier 1 Capital ratio (CET1) 
and an 8.0% Total Capital ratio. In addition, banks need to build a capital 
conservation buffer of 2.5%. In terms of liquidity and stable funding, 
banks need to maintain minimum LCR and NSFR ratios of 100%.

Our shareholders reinforced their confidence in the Bank’s 
strategy by providing an additional $20 million of equity capital, 
strengthening our capital adequacy. The Bank’s Tier 1 capital, 
leverage ratio, LCR and NSFR ratios at year end were significantly 
above these minimum regulatory requirements.
 
RISK MANAGEMENT
The Bank is exposed to a wide range of financial and non-financial 
risks and maintains a comprehensive approach to effectively 
manage these risks through a defined Enterprise Risk Management 
Framework (“ERMF”). This framework prescribes how risks are 
categorized and managed to ensure the Bank can achieve its 
strategic goals in a prudential and sustainable manner. 

The Bank’s ERMF is designed on core principles of maintaining 
a sound risk culture, delivering effective governance, ensuring all 
risks are clearly understood and appropriately prioritized with a 
forward-looking approach and the provision of robust monitoring 
and reporting. During 2025, BCB continued to enhance its risk 
management framework to ensure it remains aligned to its evolving 
business activities, the regulatory landscape and the dynamic 
operating environment. We encourage readers of this report to also 
read the Pillar 3 Disclosures report as it includes important details 
about the Bank and its wholly-owned subsidiaries’ capital adequacy, 
risk management, and other information. 

 
Risk Culture
The fostering of a sound risk culture is a key tenet of BCB’s ERMF. 
This is achieved by establishing and exercising accountability, 
promoting risk awareness and encouraging a proactive approach to 
the identification and mitigation of risks. These responsibilities are 
underpinned by an established Code of Conduct that prescribes the 
core values and behavioral expectations of the Bank and how these 
are governed to ensure transparency and integrity standards are 
maintained by all employees.

The Three Lines Model 
BCB has adopted a risk framework based on the “three lines” model 
which addresses how specific duties relating to risk and control are 
segregated and coordinated. Under this model, the primary responsibility 

for risk ownership lies at the client-facing and business process level as 
the first line. Risk and compliance functions form the second line and 
are responsible for providing guidance, oversight and challenge of 
the effectiveness of the first line. Internal Audit, the third line, provides 
independent and objective assurance over the adequacy of design and 
operational effectiveness of the first- and second-line functions.

Governance 
BCB’s risk governance structure is defined by a clear and robust 
committee framework and delegation of authority that facilitates both 
top-down ownership, guidance and oversight as well as bottom-up 
escalation and aggregation of reporting. This structure defines key 
areas of authority and responsibility whilst establishing appropriate 
lines of reporting across the three lines.

Risk Strategy  
BCB’s risk management process is an ongoing cycle of identification 
and assessment of risks, the effective monitoring and control of these 
and accurate and timely reporting through its governance structure. 
BCB categorizes risks into 6 principal types; Credit, Market, Treasury, 
Operational Compliance and Strategic/Reputational through which 
a comprehensive set of underlying individual risks are assessed and 
monitored. Aligned to this taxonomy, the Board approves a formal 
Risk Appetite Statement (RAS) that articulates the level of risk that 
BCB is willing to accept in the pursuit of its business strategy. The 
RAS is defined through qualitative risk statements supported by 
quantitative risk limits and parameters. It forms the basis for ongoing 
assessment and dialogue between management and the Board 
regarding BCB’s current and evolving risk profile, facilitating strategic 
and financial decisions to be made on an informed basis. Through 
clear articulation of the Bank’s risk principles and appetite, the RAS 
raises awareness across the organisation and creates a foundation 
for the effective measurement and communication of risk among 
internal and external stakeholders. As such it supports a culture that 
integrates risk management and awareness into the Bank’s ways of 
working in a transparent, collaborative and consistent manner.  

BCB adopts an agile approach to ensure that risk management 
practices constantly evolve as the Bank executes its strategic plan. To 
support this, the Bank utilizes a Top and Emerging Risk register that 
facilitates a forward-looking horizon risk assessment as well as regular 
stress testing to ensure BCB’s risk profile is stressed against cyclical 
and idiosyncratic down-side scenarios.

While related party transactions continue to feature in BCB’s asset 
profile, the Bank’s loan growth strategy has reduced concentration 
and these transactions remain closely monitored and governed. The 
Bank ensures that credit exposure to related parties is examined 
appropriately, approved on market terms and conditions, and is 
subject to oversight by the Bank’s Risk department.

Details of the Bank’s risk structure are further outlined in note 20 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

Regulatory Ratios

Tier1/Total capital ratio	 40.9%	 30.8%	
Leverage ratio	 9.5%	 12.4%
Liquidity coverage ratio	 311.0%	 601.0%	
Net stable funding ratio	 214.0%	 186.0% 

2025  2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 
To the Shareholder and Board of Directors of Bermuda Commercial Bank Limited 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bermuda Commercial Bank Limited and its subsidiaries (the 
“Bank”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at September 30, 2025, the consolidated 
statements of income, other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes, comprising material accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Bank as at September 30, 2025, and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IFRS Accounting Standards”). 
 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) (“IESBA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements in Bermuda, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank's financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s 
internal control. 

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 

— Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Bank to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the Bank’s audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants
Hamilton, Bermuda
December 11, 2020

© 2025 KPMG Audit Limited, a Bermuda limited liability company and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a 
private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Bank's internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Bank to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit. 
 

 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
Hamilton, Bermuda 
December 12, 2025 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit.  We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

KPMG Audit Limited
Chartered Professional Accountants
Hamilton, Bermuda
January 31, 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Shareholder and Board of Directors of Bermuda Commercial Bank Limited 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bermuda Commercial Bank Limited and its subsidiaries (the 
“Bank”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at September 30, 2022, the consolidated 
statements of income and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Bank as at September 30, 2022, and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
  
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) 
(IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in Bermuda and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and 
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
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(Expressed in United States Dollars) 
 

September 30, 2025 
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 2025  2024 
    
Assets    
    
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3) $      419,391,112  $     206,809,255 
Interest receivable  1,653,414   1,573,795 
Other assets (Note 9)  2,199,447   1,676,753 
Financial investments (Notes 5 and 21) 164,605,133   124,902,525 
Loans and advances to customers (Notes 6 and 17)  93,632,800   84,823,620 
Derivative financial instruments (Notes 4 and 21)  27,111   7,804 
Property and equipment (Note 7)  11,438,896   11,649,673 
Intangible assets (Note 8)  2,950,310   2,599,557 
    
Total assets $      695,898,223  $    434,042,982 
    
Liabilities    
    
Deposits (Notes 10 and 17) 623,093,369  $    371,441,534 
Customer drafts payable -  58,418 
Derivative financial instruments (Notes 4 and 21)  27,090   7,804 
Other liabilities (Note 11)  4,809,656   6,045,887 
Interest payable  4,023,248   3,781,464 
    
Total liabilities $     631,953,363  $    381,335,107 
    
    

 
See accompanying notes. 
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 2025  2024 
    
Income    
Interest income calculated using the effective interest rate:    

Cash and term deposits (Note 3)  $    4,765,692   $ 4,942,737 
Loans and advances to customers (Note 6)  5,023,096   3,922,008 
Financial investments (Note 5)  12,838,014   10,414,714 

    
Total interest income 22,626,802  19,279,459 
Interest expense (Note 10) (8,625,939)  (7,497,349) 
    
Net interest income 14,000,863  11,782,110 
    
Fees and commissions (Note 13)  1,733,996   1,655,019 
Net foreign exchange gains  421,743   367,444 
Gain (loss) from financial investments (Note 14)  717,408   (408,447) 
Impairment (losses) gains on financial instruments (Notes 5, 6 and 9)  (846,991)  338,636 
Other operating income (Note 15) 990,796   578,955 
    
Total income 17,017,815  14,313,717 
    
Expenses    
Salaries and employee benefits (Note 18)  15,381,299   13,626,371 
Depreciation (Note 7)  354,976   351,887 
Amortisation (Note 8)  391,202   96,363 
General and administrative expenses (Note 16)  8,759,740   10,866,025 
    
Total expenses 24,887,217  24,940,646 
    
Net loss before taxation $ (7,869,402)  $ (10,626,929) 
    
Income tax expense -  - 
    
Net loss for the year $ (7,869,402)  $ (10,626,929) 
    

 

See accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income 
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6 

 2025  2024 
    
Net loss for the year $ (7,869,402)  $ (10,626,929) 
    
Other comprehensive loss:    
    
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to statement of income    
    
Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income    

Net change in fair value  (894,483)  6,007,631 
Reclassified to statement of income (Note 14)  (717,408)  408,447 
Changes in allowance for expected credit losses (Note 5)  718,271   (370,316) 

    
    
Other comprehensive (loss) income (893,620)  6,045,762 
    
Total comprehensive loss $ (8,763,022)  $ (4,581,167) 

    
 
 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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 2025  2024 
    
Net loss for the year $ (7,869,402)  $ (10,626,929) 
    
Other comprehensive loss:    
    
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to statement of income    
    
Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income    

Net change in fair value  (894,483)  6,007,631 
Reclassified to statement of income (Note 14)  (717,408)  408,447 
Changes in allowance for expected credit losses (Note 5)  718,271   (370,316) 

    
    
Other comprehensive (loss) income (893,620)  6,045,762 
    
Total comprehensive loss $ (8,763,022)  $ (4,581,167) 

    
 
 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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Capital 

stock 
Share  

premium 

Accumulated other 
comprehensive 

income (loss) 
Retained 
earnings Total equity 

Balance at September 30, 2023 $ 16,807,963 $ 22,131,188 $ (7,585,215) $ 25,935,106 $ 57,289,042  

Net loss for the year      -    (10,626,929)  (10,626,929)  

Other comprehensive income       6,045,762  -    6,045,762  
            
Balance at September 30, 2024 $ 16,807,963 $ 22,131,188 $ (1,539,453) $ 15,308,177 $ 52,707,875  

Share issuance  7,111,114  12,888,893  -  -  20,000,007  

Net loss for the year      -  (7,869,402)  (7,869,402)  

Other comprehensive loss       (893,620)  -  (893,620)  
            
            
Balance at September 30, 2025 $ 23,919,077 $ 35,020,081 $ (2,433,073) $ 7,438,775 $ 63,944,860  

 
 
 

See accompanying notes. 
 
 
 
 



	 19
Bermuda Commercial Bank Limited 

 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  
 (Expressed in United States Dollars) 

 
Year ended September 30, 2025 

 
 

8 

 2025  2024 
    
Operating activities    
    
Net loss for the year $ (7,869,402)  $ (10,626,929) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating 
activities: 

   

Depreciation  354,976   351,887 
Amortisation  391,202   96,363 
Interest income from loans and advances to customers (5,023,096)  (3,922,008) 
Interest income from financial investments (12,838,014)  (10,414,714) 
Interest expense 8,625,939  7,497,349 
(Gains) losses from financial investments (717,408)  408,447 
Impairment losses (gains) on financial investments 718,272  (370,316) 
Gain from unclaimed dormant balances (328,524)  - 
Impairment losses on loans 110,387  31,680 
Impairment losses on other assets 18,332  - 
    
Changes in:    
Interest receivable 1,251   38,204 
Other assets  (541,026)  (39,956) 
Derivative financial instruments, net  (21)  682 
Customer drafts payable  (58,418)  (139,955) 
Other liabilities (907,707)  2,753,184 

    
Net cash used in operating activities $ (18,063,257)  $ (14,336,082) 
    

 
 
 
See accompanying notes. 
 
 
 
  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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 2025  2024 
Investing activities    
    
Net change in loans and advances to customers  (8,919,567)  (29,077,824) 
Interest received from loans and advances to customers 5,007,528  3,885,752 
Proceeds from sale and maturity of financial investments  1,279,931,669   495,995,870 
Purchases of financial investments  (1,320,528,761)  (419,753,258) 
Interest received from financial investments 12,772,712                        10,787,532 
Purchases of property and equipment (Note 7)  (144,199)                             (62,437) 
Purchases of intangible assets (Note 8)  (741,955)  (1,784,335) 
    
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities $ (32,622,573)  $ 59,991,300 
    
Financing activities 
 

   

Net change in deposits 251,651,835  (27,520,339) 
Interest paid (8,384,155)  (6,194,116) 
Capital injections from Shareholder 20,000,007  - 
    
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 263,267,687  (33,714,455) 
    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  212,581,857   11,940,763 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  206,809,255   194,868,492 
    
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 419,391,112  $ 206,809,255 
    
    
    
    
    

 
 
See accompanying notes. 
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1. Description of business 
 
Bermuda Commercial Bank Limited (“BCB”) is a Bermuda incorporated company, licensed and regulated by the Bermuda 
Monetary Authority (“the BMA”) to conduct banking under the Banks and Deposit Companies Act 1999 and investment 
business under the Investment Business Act 2003. BCB, together with its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Bank”), provides 
banking, custody, investment and lending to retail and corporate clients. BCB’s subsidiaries include Bercom Nominees Limited 
(licensed and regulated by the BMA under the Corporate Service Provider Business Act 2012), BCB Asset Management 
Limited (“BCBAML”) and VT Strategies Holdings Limited.   
 
BCBAML acted as the BSX Trading Member for the Bank but had no customers, licenses, or memberships beyond this role. 
On request of the BSX, the Trading Membership was transferred from BCBAML to BCB, making BCBAML’s existence 
redundant in its current form. Management is evaluating whether to wind up the BCBAML or to repurpose it strategically as 
part of the BCB’s future plans. No decisions have been made as of the date the financial statements were approved. 

 
BCB’s registered office is at 34 Bermudiana Road, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. 
  
BCB is a wholly owned subsidiary of Base Financial Ltd (formerly known as “Provident Holdings Ltd”), a Bermuda investment 
holding company whose majority shareholder ultimate parent undertaking is BFG Hamilton Investments, LLC, a company 
incorporated in the United States of America and owned by Mr. Bradley Palmer. 
 

2. Basis of preparation and material accounting policies 
 
2.1 Basis of preparation 
 
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2025 have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
In this regard, management has assessed the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and to meet regulatory 
requirements applicable to capital, liquidity and funding with no exception at least, but not limited to, twelve months from the 
reporting date.  
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments 
measured at fair value (“FV”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollars, which is the 
Bank’s functional and reporting currency. All values are rounded to the nearest dollar, except when otherwise indicated. 
 
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2025, were authorised for issue in accordance with 
a resolution of the Board of Directors on December 12, 2025. 
 
2.2 Statement of compliance 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS Accounting Standard”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The Bank has 
consistently applied the material accounting policies to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements. 
 
All intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in full on consolidation. The financial statements of the Bank’s 
subsidiaries owned at the financial year-end are presented for the same reporting year as the Bank, using consistent 
accounting policies.  
 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated until the date on which control was relinquished by the Bank. Control is forfeited when the 
Bank no longer has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities. 
 



22	 BERMUDA COMMERCIAL BANK LIMITED
Bermuda Commercial Bank Limited 

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 (Expressed in United States Dollars) 
 

September 30, 2025 
 
 

11 

2. Basis of preparation and material accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.3 Presentation of consolidated financial statements 
 
The Bank presents its Consolidated Statement of Financial Position broadly in order of liquidity. An analysis regarding recovery 
or settlement of assets and liabilities within 12 months after the reporting date (“current”), and more than 12 months after the 
reporting date (“non-current”), is presented in Note 20. 

 
2.4 Use of judgments, estimates, and assumptions 
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standard requires management to 
make certain estimates, judgments, and assumptions that affect the application of the reported amounts in the consolidated 
financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Estimates, judgments and assumptions are continually evaluated, and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events, that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates, 
judgments, and assumptions that have a risk of causing material adjustments to the consolidated financial statements within 
the next financial year are discussed below: 

 
Impairment or Expected credit loss (“ECL”) Allowance on financial assets  
 
The impairment or ECL allowance for loans and advances and debt instruments in the investment portfolio that are carried at 
Amortised Cost (“AC”) or Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (“FVOCI”) is measured according to the significant 
increase in credit risk of those assets from their initial recognition. The significance of the increase in credit risk is assessed 
based on internally developed parameters and may include estimates and judgements. Further, several internal and external 
forward-looking judgements, estimates and assumptions are used in assessing the ECL allowances. These estimates are 
driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels of allowances. 

 
2.5 Material Accounting Policies 
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the Bank and its subsidiaries 
as at September 30, 2025. A list of these subsidiaries is presented in Note 17. 

 
Subsidiaries 
 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Bank. The Bank controls an entity if it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns 
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial 
statements of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences 
until the date when control ceases. 

 
Loss of control 
 
When the Bank loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary and any related non-
controlling interest and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of 
Income. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.  
 
Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
 
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction 
gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of 
impairment. 



	 23NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bermuda Commercial Bank Limited 

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 (Expressed in United States Dollars) 
 

September 30, 2025 
 
 

12 

2. Basis of preparation and material accounting policies (continued) 
 

Foreign currency translation 
 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollars, which is the Bank's functional currency. The 
Bank and each of its subsidiaries determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of 
each entity are measured using that functional currency. 
 
Bermuda dollar balances and transactions are translated into United States dollars at fixed parity. Monetary assets and 
liabilities in other currencies are translated into United States dollars at the rates of exchange prevailing at the reporting date 
and non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated into 
United States dollars at historic rates or the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
 
Income and expense items in other currencies are translated into United States dollars at the rates prevailing at the dates of 
the transactions. Realised and changes in unrealized gains and losses on foreign currency positions are reported under net 
exchange gains or losses in the Consolidated Statement of Income of the current year. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of notes and coins on hand and short-term deposits with other banks which are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and have original maturities of 
three months or less from the reporting date. Cash and cash equivalents may also include high quality liquid assets (“HQLA”) 
such as U.S., U.K. and Canadian government treasury bills, and investment grade corporate bonds. 

 
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised costs in the statement of financial position. 
 
Financial instruments 

 
Recognition and initial measurement 
 
The Bank initially recognises loans and advances, deposits and other financial liabilities on the date on which they are 
originated. All other financial instruments (including regular purchases and sales of financial assets) are recognised on trade 
date, which is the date on which the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 
Classification 
 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at Amortised Cost (“AC”), Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive 
Income (“FVOCI”) or Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (“FVTPL”). 

 
A financial asset is measured at AC if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 
 
▪ the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 
▪ the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI. 

 
A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 
 
▪ the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 

financial assets; and 
▪ the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI. 
 
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Bank may irrevocably elect to present subsequent 
changes in fair value in the Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”). This election is made on an 
investment-by-investment basis. No election has been made in the current year. 
 
All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL. 
 
In addition, on initial recognition, the Bank may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements 
to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch that would otherwise arise. No election has been made in the current year. 
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2.  Basis of preparation and material accounting policies (continued) 
 
Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Business model assessment 
 
The Bank makes an assessment based on the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level 
because this best reflects the way the business is managed, and information is provided to management. This includes the 
(a) business model where the objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, (b) business model where 
the objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and (c) other business models. 
 
Other business models (where applicable) include financial assets that are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor 
held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets. These are measured at FVTPL as these are generally 
held for trading, and the performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. 
 
Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are SPPI 
 
Financial instruments that meet the business model assessment of (a) and (b) above are assessed to evaluate if the contractual 
cash flows represent SPPI which would typically be expected from basic lending arrangements. For this purpose, ‘principal’ is 
defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition and may change over the life of the financial asset. ‘Interest’ 
is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding 
during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs, as well as profit margin. 

 
Reclassifications 
 
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Bank changes its 
business model for managing financial assets. 

Financial liabilities 
 
The Bank classifies its financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. 
 
Derivatives 
 
Derivatives include foreign exchange forward contracts and warrants. The Bank uses derivatives to manage its credit and 
market risk exposure and also to provide clients with the ability to manage their own risk exposures. The Bank does not use 
derivatives for trading or for speculative purposes.  
 
The Bank uses foreign exchange forward contracts to manage the Bank’s foreign exchange risk on certain investment 
securities denominated in foreign currencies.  
 
Derivatives are recorded at fair value and carried as assets when the fair value is positive, and as liabilities when the fair value 
is negative. 
 
The accounting treatment for a fair value gain or loss on a derivative depends on whether the derivative is designated as a 
hedging instrument. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are included in the Consolidated Statement of Income in gains 
(losses) on derivative financial instruments for the option contracts, and in net foreign exchange gains or losses for the forward 
contracts, unless they qualify for hedge accounting. The Bank does not currently apply hedge accounting. 
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2.  Basis of preparation and material accounting policies (continued) 
 
Financial instruments (continued) 

 
Derecognition 
 
A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers 
the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the financial asset are transferred, or in which the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards 
of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. 
 
On derecognition, except for equity investments measured at FVOCI, the difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognized) and the sum of (i) the consideration 
received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been 
recognised in OCI, is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Income. Derecognition gains and losses from equity 
investments measured at FVOCI are not recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Income. However, transfers may be 
made from OCI to retained earnings at the discretion of management. 

 
A financial liability is derecognized when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire; any difference 
between the carrying amount and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss under other income. 
 
Offsetting financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is an intention to settle on 
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liability simultaneously. Income and expenses will not be offset in the 
Consolidated Statement of Income unless required or permitted by the IFRS accounting standard or interpretation as 
specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the Bank. 

 
Determination of fair value 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the 
Bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk. 
 
When available, the Bank measures fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that instrument. 
A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide 
pricing information on an ongoing basis. 
 
If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant 
observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors 
that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction. 
 
The best evidence of fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction price which is the fair 
value of the consideration given or received. If the Bank determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the 
transaction price and the fair value is

 
evidenced neither by quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability 

nor based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, then the financial instrument is measured 
initially at fair value and it is adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction 
price. Subsequently, the difference is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Income on an appropriate basis over the 
life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is 
closed out. 
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2.  Basis of preparation and material accounting policies (continued) 
 
Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Impairment (continued) 
 
ECL allowances are recognised for financial assets and loan commitments, except for financial assets that are measured at 
FVTPL and equity investments measured at FVOCI. ECL allowances applicable to financial assets measured at AC are 
deducted from the gross carrying value of the respective financial asset while the ECL allowances applicable to financial 
assets measured at FVOCI are recognised in OCI. Movements in ECL allowances are recognised in the Consolidated 
Statement of Income. 
 
ECL allowances are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses that are expected to arise over the life of the asset (the 
lifetime expected credit loss), unless there has been no ‘significant increase in credit risk’ since origination (12 month expected 
credit loss). Accordingly, for loans and advances and financial investments, an assessment is performed at the end of each 
reporting period to evaluate whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since its initial recognition. 
 
Financial assets and loan commitments are categorized into the following groups based on the above assessment. 
 
Stage 1 - Includes debt instruments where there has not been any significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. 

For instruments under stage 1, an allowance is required for ECLs resulting from default events that are possible 
within the next 12 months from the reporting date (i.e. 12-Months ECL). 

 
Stage 2 - Includes debt instruments where there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition on an 

individual or collective basis. For instruments under stage 2, an allowance is required for ECLs resulting from all 
possible default events over the expected life of the instrument (i.e. Lifetime ECL). 

 
Stage 3 - Includes debt instruments that are credit-impaired due to objective evidence of impairment. For instruments under 

Stage 3, an allowance is required to reduce the carrying value of the asset to its recoverable value. 
 

Originated credit impaired: Originated credit impaired assets (if any) are financial assets that are credit impaired on initial 
recognition. They are recorded at fair value at initial recognition and interest income is subsequently recognised based on a 
credit-adjusted effective interest rate (“EIR”). ECLs are only recognised or released to the extent that there is a subsequent 
change in the expected credit losses. 
 
ECL allowances for accounts receivable are estimated based on the simplified approach allowed in IFRS 9. 
 
Significant increase in credit risk 
 
In order to determine whether an instrument or a portfolio of instruments is subject to an impairment provision using 12-Month ECL 
or Lifetime ECL, the Bank assesses whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition at each reporting date. 
Determining whether an increase in credit risk is significant depends on the characteristics of the financial instrument and the 
borrower. For this purpose, several internal risk criteria have been set by the Bank based on reasonable and supportable information 
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort.  
 
These include: 
 
▪ quantitative information based on movement in debt servicing ratio and loans to value; 
▪ qualitative indicators; 
▪ backstop of 30 days past due for loans and advances, while a backstop of 10 days for financial investments; 
▪ analyses of historical and forward-looking data; and 
▪ data from internal and external sources such as external rating agencies. 
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2.  Basis of preparation and material accounting policies (continued) 
 
Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Impairment  
 
Measurement of ECL 
 
The Bank estimates the ECLs for loans and advances, loan commitments (if any), and financial investments based on three 
probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash shortfalls, discounted at an approximation to the EIR. A cash 
shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are due to an entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows 
that the entity expects to receive. 
 
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following variables: 
 
▪ Probability of Default (“PD”) 
▪ Loss Given Default (“LGD”) 
▪ Exposure at Default (“EAD”) 

 
ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD by LGD and EAD. Stage 2 ECL is calculated by 
multiplying the lifetime PD by LGD and EAD. ECL for exposures in stage 3 instruments is calculated as the difference between 
the carrying value and the net present value of estimated future cash flows. 
 
The PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A default may only happen at a certain time over 
the assessed period, if the instrument has not been previously derecognized and is still in the portfolio. 12-month PD rates for 
instruments with similar credit risk characteristics are assessed based on the default rates published by approved external 
parties. Further, several judgements, estimates and forward-looking assumptions are applied when adjusting the PD rates for 
financial instruments originating in Bermuda and for financial instruments with significant increases in credit risk. 
 
The LGD is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time. It is based on the difference 
between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, including the realisation of any 
collateral or credit enhancements that are integral to the underlying financial instrument. For financial instruments that do not 
have a collateral, the LGD is estimated based on the data published by the external rating agencies. This is usually expressed 
as a percentage of the EAD. 

 
EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. This is derived from the current exposure to the counterparty 
and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract and arising from amortisation. The EAD of a financial 
instrument is its gross carrying amount at the time of default. For lending commitments, the EADs are potential future amounts 
that may be drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on historical observations and forward-looking forecasts. 
For financial guarantees (if any), the EAD represents the amount of the guaranteed exposure when the financial guarantee 
becomes payable. 
 
As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD for Stage 1 financial assets, the ECL is measured by 
considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period over which it is exposed to credit risk. The maximum 
contractual period extends to the date at which the entity has the right to require repayment of the financial asset or terminate 
a loan commitment or guarantee. 
 
The source and estimation of PD, LGD and EAD, and their application are dependent on the shared risk characteristics 
common to a selected group of assets. For portfolios in respect of which the entity has limited historical data, external 
benchmark information is used to supplement the internally available data. 

 
The ECL for accounts receivable is different from the approach described above as it is estimated using the ‘simplified 
approach’ described in IFRS 9. A practical expedient known as the ‘provision matrix’ method, allowed by IFRS 9, is adopted 
to assess the allowances under the simplified approach. The provision matrix method specifies fixed provision rates (or ‘loss 
rates’) depending on the number of days that a receivable is past due. 
 
Accordingly, the multiplication of accounts receivable in each age bucket by the respective expected loss rates provides the 
ECL allowance for accounts receivable. 
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2. Basis of preparation and material accounting policies (continued) 
 
Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Impairment (continued) 
 
Incorporation of forward-looking information 
 
Forward-looking information is incorporated into both the assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased 
significantly since its initial recognition and the measurement of ECL. 
 
When estimating ECLs, the Bank formulates three economic scenarios: a base case, which is ‘the most likely outcome’ 
scenario, and two less likely scenarios, one upside (i.e. stronger near-term growth) and one downside (i.e. moderate negative 
growth), and each is assigned with an estimated probability of occurring. The downward scenario is constructed with 33% 
probability (2024: 30%). The upward scenario is constructed with 17% probability (2024: 20%). The base scenario is assigned 
the remaining 50% (2024:50%). Evaluation and application of multiple economic scenarios are key elements of the expected 
credit loss process as the ECL of a financial instrument shall be measured in a way that reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes. 
 
Economic inputs applicable to the geographical jurisdiction of the underlying financial instrument group are used in developing 
the macroeconomic scenarios applicable to the estimation process. These economic inputs include gross domestic product 
growth rate, interest rates and unemployment rates of the relevant jurisdiction. Further, since the inputs and models used for 
calculating ECLs may not capture all characteristics of the market at the date of the financial statements, quantitative and 
qualitative adjustments or overlays are occasionally made as temporary adjustments when such differences are significantly 
material. 

 
Where possible, the above data is obtained from third-party sources and the reasonability of inputs, weights attributed to 
economic inputs and multiple scenarios, and other assumptions used in developing forward-looking information are reviewed 
at least annually. 
 
Definition of default and cure 
 
The definition of default of a group of financial instruments may differ according to their nature and exposure to credit risk and 
may involve both quantitative and qualitative factors. Loans and advances are considered as defaulted and therefore Stage 3 
(credit-impaired) for ECL calculations in all cases when the borrower becomes 90 days past due on its contractual payments. 
Financial investments carried at AC and FVOCI are considered defaulted and therefore Stage 3 (credit-impaired) for ECL 
calculations in all cases when the interest, and/or interim or final principal payment becomes 30 days past due on the 
instrument’s contractual payments. 
 
As a part of the assessment of whether an individually significant customer is in default, the Bank also considers a variety of 
factors that may indicate their inability to pay. When such events occur, the Bank carefully considers whether the event should 
result in treating the customer as defaulted and therefore assessed as Stage 3 for ECL calculations or whether Stage 2 is 
appropriate. Such factors include, but are not limited to, downgrade in internal rating of the loan, deterioration in loan-to-value, 
and other qualitative indications that suggest that the borrower of the loan or the issuer of the financial investment is unlikely 
to honour its credit obligation in full, or in part, due to reasons such as significant financial difficulty of the issuer, breach of 
covenants, potential bankruptcy, other financial reorganization, and the absence of an active market. It is the Bank’s policy to 
consider a financial instrument as ‘cured’ and therefore re-classified out of Stage 3 when one or more of the above criteria 
have improved. 
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2. Basis of preparation and material accounting policies (continued) 
 
Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Impairment (continued) 

 
Modification of financial assets 
 
A financial asset is derecognized when the terms and conditions have been renegotiated to the extent that, substantially, it 
becomes a new asset, with the difference recognised as a derecognition gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss 
has not already been recorded. The newly recognised financial asset is classified as Stage 1 or 2 for ECL measurement 
purposes, unless the new asset is deemed to be credit impaired at the date of inception. If the modification does not result in 
cash flows that are substantially different, the modification does not result in derecognition. Based on the change in cash flows 
discounted at the original EIR, a modification gain or loss is recorded, to the extent that an impairment loss has not already 
been recorded. 

 
 
Write-offs 
 
Financial instruments are written off either partially or in their entirety only when the Bank has no reasonable expectation of 
recovering the instrument in its entirety or a portion thereof. If the amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated 
ECL allowance, the difference is first treated as an addition to the allowance that is then applied against the gross carrying 
amount. Any subsequent recoveries are credited to ‘Impairment gains (losses) on financial instruments’ in the Consolidated 
Statement of Income. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication 
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Bank estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. Where 
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
estimated recoverable amount. 
 
Property and equipment 
 
Property and equipment are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Historical 
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the property and equipment. Depreciation is 
calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, which are determined in 
accordance with the Bank’s accounting policy as shown below: 
 

Asset class/category Estimated useful life 

Buildings 35-40 years 
Equipment e.g. office furniture 5-10 years 

Computer equipment 3-5 years 

Operating lease equipment 5-10 years 
Leasehold improvements Lesser of the lease term and useful life 

 
Depreciation commences once the property and equipment is put into use. Subsequent costs, such as repairs and 
maintenance, are charged to the Consolidated Statement of Income during the financial year in which they are incurred. 
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2.  Basis of preparation and material accounting policies (continued) 
 
Leases  
 
Property and equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use. Any gain 
or loss on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount  
of the asset) is recognised in other operating income in the Consolidated Statement of Income in the year the asset is 
derecognised. 
 
At inception of a contract, the Bank assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if 
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.  
 
At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Bank allocates the consideration in the 
contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.  

 
Bank as a Lessee 
 
The Bank applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets. The Bank recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right 
to use the underlying assets.  The asset is subject to the Bank’s impairment policy on non-financial assets and amortised over 
the length of the lease while the lease liability is measured at amortised cost. 

 
As a lessee, the Bank recognises lease payments associated with short-term leases (i.e. where the lease term is 12 months 
or less) and leases of low-value assets as an expense over the lease term.  
 
The right-of-use assets are presented within the note applicable to Property and equipment (Note 7), and the lease liability 
within the note applicable to Other liabilities (Note 11).  
 
Bank as a Lessor 
 
When the Bank acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. 
To classify each lease, the Bank makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is classified as a finance lease; if 
not then it is an operating lease. However, there were no finance leases in the Bank’s consolidated financial statements at 
either year-end.  
 
Income from operating leases under IFRS 16 are recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term as part of ‘Other 
operating income’ on the Consolidated Statement of Income.  
 
When the Bank is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the sub-lease separately. It 
assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head-lease, not with 
reference to the underlying asset. If a head lease is a short-term lease to which the Bank applies the exemption described 
above, then the Bank classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease. However, there were no sub-leases in the Bank’s 
consolidated financial statements at either year-end. 
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2.  Basis of preparation and material accounting policies (continued) 

 Intangible assets 

The Bank’s other intangible assets include the value of computer software. An intangible asset is recognised only when its 
cost can be measured reliably, and it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to it will flow 
to the Bank. Intangible assets are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are 
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line 
method to write down the cost of intangible assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows: 
 
Computer software 5-10 years 

 
Amortisation of computer software commences once it is available for use. 
 
Subsequent expenditure on computer software is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied 
in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred. 

 
Customer drafts payable 
 
Customer drafts payable consist of the balance of un-cashed customer drafts at the reporting date. This balance is customer-
driven and fluctuates based on when customers purchase drafts and when they are presented for payment. Customer drafts 
payable are presented under liabilities on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position upon issue. 
 

 Recognition of income 
 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Bank and the revenue can 
be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised: 
 
Interest income 
 
Interest income is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Income for all interest-bearing instruments measured at AC 
and FVOCI, on the accrual basis, using the effective interest rate method. The interest income from financial assets that are 
classified as Stage 3 for ECL purposes, is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the net carrying value of the 
asset, which is the gross carrying amount less the applicable provision for ECL. 
 
Interest income applicable to interest-bearing instruments measured at FVTPL is recognised on the accrual basis, using the 
coupon rate of the instrument.  
 
Fees and commissions 
 
Revenue from contracts with customers primarily includes fees and commissions earned from banking and custodial services. 
Income is recognised when the performance obligations associated to those contracts are satisfied. Accordingly, income is 
recognised at the time of the transaction unless the performance obligations associated with the contract are satisfied over a 
period of time, in which case, the income is recognised over that period according to the complete satisfaction of the 
performance obligations. Consideration for fees and commissions is collected at the time of the transaction unless it is due 
upon receipt of the invoice by the customer. Consideration receivable from customers is presented under other assets on the 
Statement of Financial Position while the consideration received in advance before the Bank provides the service (i.e. a 
contract liability) is deferred and presented under other liabilities on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. 
 
Dividend income 
 
Dividend income is recognised when the Bank’s right to receive the payment is established. 
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2.  Basis of preparation and material accounting policies (continued) 
 
Expenses 
 
Expenses are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Income on the accrual basis. Interest expense is calculated using 
the effective interest rate method. 

 
Dividends on common shares 
 
Dividends on common shares are recognised as a liability and are deducted from equity in the period in which they are 
declared. 
 
Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the Consolidated Statement of Income, net of 
any reimbursement. 

 
Fiduciary activities  
 
The Bank acts as custodian that results in the holding or placing of assets on behalf of individuals, corporates, trusts, retirement 
benefit plans, and other institutions. These assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these consolidated financial 
statements, as they are not assets or income of the Bank. 
 
New standards, interpretations, and amendments to published standards relevant to the bank issued but not yet 
effective  
 
Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Bank’s consolidated financial statements which may 
be relevant to the Bank are listed below. The following new and amended standards are effective for annual periods beginning 
after 1 October 2025 and the Bank does not intend to adopt them early until they become effective: 
 
- Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments – Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 7 

Financial instruments Disclosures effective 1 Jan 2026.  
- Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards – Amendments to; 

o IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and its accompanying Guidance on implementing IFRS 7 
o IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
o IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statement; and 
o IAS 7 Statement of Cash flows. 

 
- Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards – Amendments effective 1 Jan 2027. 

o IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements with key new requirements being classification of income and expenses in five categories in the 
statement of profit or loss, namely the operating, investing, financing, discontinued operations and income tax 
categories. Disclosure on Management-defined performance measures (MPMs) and enhanced guidance 
grouping information in the financial statements. 

 
Early adoption 
 
The Bank did not early adopt any new standards during the year ended September 30, 2025. 
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3. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents were made up as follows: 
  2025  2024 
 
Cash and demand deposits $  34,691,408  $ 25,427,182 
Term deposits maturing within three months   142,578,004   78,484,170 
HQLA maturing within three months   242,121,700   102,897,903 
Total $ 419,391,112 $ 206,809,255 
 
Term deposits amounting to $5,675,081 were collateralized at September 30, 2025 (2024: $5,423,229). The collateral posted 
supports the Bank’s foreign exchange market transaction volume and Visa credit card settlements. 
 
 

 The average effective yields earned were as follows: 
  2025  2024 
 
Cash and demand deposits  -0.04%  0.87% 
Term deposits maturing within three months  4.03%  5.16% 
HQLA   4.05%  5.06% 

 
4. Derivative financial instruments 

 
At their inception, derivatives often involve only a mutual exchange of rights and obligations with little or no transfer of 
consideration. However, these instruments frequently involve a high degree of leverage and can be very volatile. A relatively 
small movement in the value of the asset, index or price underlying a derivative contract may have a significant impact on the 
fair value of the instrument. 

 
Over-the-counter derivatives may expose the Bank to the risks associated with the absence of an exchange market on which 
to close out an open position. 
 
The Bank’s exposure under derivative contracts is closely monitored as part of the overall management of the Bank’s market 
risk (see also Note 20). 
 
Foreign exchange forward contracts 
 
Foreign exchange forward contracts are contractual agreements to buy or sell a specified amount of foreign currency at a 
future date at an exchange rate fixed at inception of the contract. Forward contracts are customized contracts transacted in 
the over-the-counter market. The Bank uses these contracts to manage its exposure to foreign currency risk. 
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4. Derivative financial instruments (continued) 
 
The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments recorded as assets and liabilities, together with their 
notional amounts. The notional amount, recorded gross, is the amount of a derivative’s underlying reference asset, index, or 
price and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The notional amounts of the derivatives 
are not recorded on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The notional amounts presented below on gross basis 
indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at the year-end and are not indicative of the market risk or the credit risk. 
 

2025  
 Notional 

amount  Fair value 

Derivatives assets             4,792,513  27,111 
Derivatives liabilities   3,970,762  27,090 
  
2024  

 Notional 
amount  Fair value 

Derivatives assets     $        3,996,775              $                7,804 
Derivatives liabilities   3,996,775  7,804 

 
5. Financial investments 

 
Financial investments by major classifications at September 30 were as follows: 
 

 2025  2024 
Financial investments measured at FVOCI    
Government debt securities $      85,560,420   $      18,319,160 
Corporate debt securities (non-banks)  79,044,713   106,478,349 
Asset-backed securities -  105,016 
    
Total financial investments $   164,605,133  $   124,902,525 

 
At September 30, 2025, the amortised cost of financial investments amounted to $165,715,312 (2024: $124,427,908).   
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5. Financial investments (continued) 
 
The carrying value of investments subject to the ECL assessment at September 30, 2025 was $164,605,133 (2024: 
$124,902,525) and solely represent debt securities measured at FVOCI. 
 
Reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of debt instruments subject to ECL, and the corresponding ECL 
allowance are as follows:  

 2025 

           Financial investments 
 Carrying amount  ECL Allowance 
 Non-credit impaired Credit 

impaired Total  Non-credit impaired Credit 
impaired Total 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3   Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  

As at October 1, 2024 $123,189,936 $1,709,240 $3,349 $124,902,525   $80,237  $62,283 $1 $142,521 

Transfers to(from):          

Stage 1  (3,295,600) - 3,295,600 -   (808,839) - 808,839 - 

Stage 2  1,709,240  (1,709,240)  -   12,129  (12,129) - - 

Net movement in financial 
investments 41,490,862 - (1,788,254) 39,702,608       

ECL charge        768,427 (50,154) (1) 718,272 

As at September 30, 2025 $163,094,438                 $- $1,510,695 $164,605,133  $51,954                 $- $808,839 $860,793 
 
 

 2024 

           Financial investments 
 Carrying amount  ECL Allowance 
 Non-credit impaired Credit 

impaired Total  Non-credit impaired Credit 
impaired Total 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3   Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  

As at October 1, 2023 $193,766,994 $1,368,570 $1,942 $195,137,506  $118,158 $61,879 $332,800 $512,837 

Transfers to(from):          

 Stage 3 - - - -  - - - - 

Net movement in financial 
investments (70,577,058) 340,670 1,407 (70,234,981)  - - - -  

ECL charge  - - - -  (37,921) 404 (332,799) (370,316) 

As at September 30, 2024 $123,189,936 $1,709,240 $3,349 $124,902,525  $80,237 $62,283 $1 $142,521 
 

The net movement in financial investments relates to the new financial assets purchased, foreign exchange and other movements. 
 
The loss allowance on debt securities at FVOCI is not recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position because the 
carrying amount of such securities is their fair value. 
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5. Financial investments (continued) 
 

Interest income from financial investments 
 
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method, on financial investments measured at FVOCI was $12,838,014 
(2024: $10,414,714).  

 
6. Loans and advances to customers 

 
Loans and advances to customers at September 30 were as follows: 
  2025  2024 
     
Commercial loans $  9,667,023  $ 18,576,174 
Commercial overdrafts   -   790,677 
Commercial mortgage loans   9,335,835   7,000,000 
Consumer mortgage loans   42,651,136   38,845,279 
Government backed mortgages   31,683,856   19,072,250 
Credit cards   269,887   251,067 
Other   25,063   288,173 

Total $ 93,632,800 $ 84,823,620 
 

 
The loan portfolio at September 30 by contractual maturity is as follows: 

 
 2025 
 

Within 
1 year 1-5 years 5-10 years 

More than 10 
years 

ECL 
allowance Total 

Commercial loans $ 8,296,814 $ 559,231 $    828,453 $ - $ (17,475) $ 9,667,023 
Commercial mortgage loans  -  9,335,835  -  -  -  9,335,835 
Consumer mortgage loans  -  51,062  3,757,226  38,864,321  (21,473)  42,651,136 
Government backed mortgages  -  -  458,739  31,399,134  (174,017)  31,683,856 
Credit cards  276,634  -  -  -  (6,747)  269,887 
Other  -  25,299  -  -  (236)  25,063 
             
Total $ 8,573,448 $ 9,971,427 $ 5,044,418 $ 70,263,455 $ (219,948) $ 93,632,800 
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6. Loans and advances to customers (continued) 
 2024 
 

Within 
1 year 1-5 years 5-10 years 

More than 
10 years 

ECL 
allowance Total 

Commercial loans $ 10,500,000 $ 7,194,811 $    891,457 $ - $ (10,094) $ 18,576,174 
Commercial overdrafts  793,301  -  -  -  (2,624)  790,677 
Commercial mortgage loans  -  7,000,000  -  -  -  7,000,000 
Consumer mortgage loans  -  71,181  2,788,105  36,006,571  (20,578)  38,845,279 
Government backed mortgages  -  -  600,971  18,540,893  (69,614)  19,072,250 
Credit cards  256,540  -  -  -  (5,473)  251,067 
Other  2,825  32,393  254,133  -  (1,178)  288,173 

Total $ 11,552,666 $ 14,298,385 $ 4,534,666 $ 54,547,464 $ (109,561) $ 84,823,620 
 

Credit quality 
 
Credit quality of Loans and advances, and the corresponding ECL allowances based on the ECL inputs and assumptions 
discussed in Material Accounting policies (Note 2), are as follows: 
 

Loans and advances at September 30, 2025 
 Gross carrying amount ECL allowance Net carrying 

amount 
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  
Commercial 

loans $  9,684,497  $ - $ - $  9,684,497   $  17,475  $  -  $  -  $  17,475  $  9,667,022  
Commercial 

mortgage 
loans   9,335,835   -  -   9,335,835     -    -    -    -    9,335,835  

Consumer 
mortgage 
loans   42,672,610   -  -   42,672,610     21,473    -    -    21,473    42,651,137  

Government 
backed 
mortgages   31,857,874   -  -   31,857,874     174,017    -     

 
174,017    31,683,857  

Credit cards   -   271,834  4,800   276,634     -    4,525   2,222   6,747    269,887  
Other   25,298   -  -   25,298     236    -    -    236    25,062  

Total at AC $ 93,576,114 $ 271,834 $ 4,800 $ 93,852,748  $ 213,201 $ 4,525 $ 2,222 $ 219,948 $ 93,632,800 
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6. Loans and advances to customers (continued) 
 2024 
 

Within 
1 year 1-5 years 5-10 years 

More than 
10 years 

ECL 
allowance Total 

Commercial loans $ 10,500,000 $ 7,194,811 $    891,457 $ - $ (10,094) $ 18,576,174 
Commercial overdrafts  793,301  -  -  -  (2,624)  790,677 
Commercial mortgage loans  -  7,000,000  -  -  -  7,000,000 
Consumer mortgage loans  -  71,181  2,788,105  36,006,571  (20,578)  38,845,279 
Government backed mortgages  -  -  600,971  18,540,893  (69,614)  19,072,250 
Credit cards  256,540  -  -  -  (5,473)  251,067 
Other  2,825  32,393  254,133  -  (1,178)  288,173 

Total $ 11,552,666 $ 14,298,385 $ 4,534,666 $ 54,547,464 $ (109,561) $ 84,823,620 
 

Credit quality 
 
Credit quality of Loans and advances, and the corresponding ECL allowances based on the ECL inputs and assumptions 
discussed in Material Accounting policies (Note 2), are as follows: 
 

Loans and advances at September 30, 2025 
 Gross carrying amount ECL allowance Net carrying 

amount 
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  
Commercial 

loans $  9,684,497  $ - $ - $  9,684,497   $  17,475  $  -  $  -  $  17,475  $  9,667,022  
Commercial 

mortgage 
loans   9,335,835   -  -   9,335,835     -    -    -    -    9,335,835  

Consumer 
mortgage 
loans   42,672,610   -  -   42,672,610     21,473    -    -    21,473    42,651,137  

Government 
backed 
mortgages   31,857,874   -  -   31,857,874     174,017    -     

 
174,017    31,683,857  

Credit cards   -   271,834  4,800   276,634     -    4,525   2,222   6,747    269,887  
Other   25,298   -  -   25,298     236    -    -    236    25,062  

Total at AC $ 93,576,114 $ 271,834 $ 4,800 $ 93,852,748  $ 213,201 $ 4,525 $ 2,222 $ 219,948 $ 93,632,800 
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6. Loans and advances to customers (continued) 
 

Loans and advances at September 30, 2024 
 Gross carrying amount ECL allowance Net carrying 

amount 
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  
Commercial 

loans $ 18,586,268 $ - $ - $ 18,586,268  $  10,094 $ - $ - $ 10,094 $ 18,576,174 
Commercial 

overdrafts  793,301  -  -  793,301   2,624  -  -  2,624  790,677 
Commercial 

mortgage 
loans  7,000,000  -  -  7,000,000   -  -  -  -  7,000,000 

Consumer 
mortgage 
loans  38,865,857  -  -  38,865,857   20,578  -  -  20,578  38,845,279 

Government 
backed 
mortgages  19,141,864  -  -  19,141,864   69,614  -  -  69,614  19,072,250 

Credit cards  -  256,540  -  256,540   -  5,473  -  5,473  251,067 
Other  289,351  -  -  289,351   1,178  -  -  1,178  288,173 

Total at AC $ 84,676,641 $ 256,540 $ - $ 84,933,181 $  104,088 $ 5,473 $ - $ 109,561 $ 84,823,620 

 
The ECL allowance of $219,948 (2024: $109,561) includes an ECL allowance of $8,894 (2024: $2,195) estimated on undrawn 
commitments totaling $4,537,196 (2024: $2,041,354). 
 
An analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount and the corresponding ECL allowances of loans and advances measured 
at amortised cost is as follows: 
 
 

Loans and advances as at 30 September 2025 
Gross carrying amount  ECL allowance   

 
Non-credit impaired 

Credit 
Impaired 

 
Total Non-credit impaired 

 Credit 
Impaired 

Total  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3   $ Stage 1 Stage 2  Stage 3 
As at October 

1, 2024  $  84,676,641 $ 256,540  - $ 84,933,181 104,088 $ 5,473 $ - $ 109,561 
Transfers:                  

From Stage 1  -  -  -  -  -    -  - 
From Stage 2  -  (4,800)  4,800  -  -  (2,222)  2,222  - 
From Stage 3  -  -  -  -  -    -  - 

                 
Net movement 
in loans and 
advances  8,899,473  20,094  - 

 

8,919,567  

 

 

   

 

 

ECL charge           109,113  1,274  -  110,387 
As at 

September 
30, 2025 $ 93,576,114 $ 271,834 $ 4,800 $ 93,852,748 $ 213,201 $ 4,525 $ 

 
 

2,222 $ 219,948 
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6. Loans and advances to customers (continued) 
 

 Loans and advances as at 30 September 2024 
 Gross carrying amount   ECL allowance  
 Non-credit impaired Total Non-credit impaired  Total 
 Stage 1 Stage 2   Stage 1 Stage 2  
As at October 1, 

2023  $ 55,322,709 $ 532,648 $ 55,855,357 $ 73,226 $ 4,655 $ 77,881 

Transfers:              

From Stage 1  -  -  -  -  -  - 

From Stage 2  -  -  -  -  -  - 

From Stage 3  -  -  -  -  -  - 

             
Net movement in 
loans and advances  29,353,932  (276,108)    29,077,824  -  -  - 

ECL charge   -  -  -  30,862     818    31,680 
As at September 30, 

2024 $ 
                   

84,676,641 $ 256,540 $ 84,933,181 $ 104,088 $ 5,473 $ 109,561 
 
The net movement in loans and advances relates to the new financial assets originated and modifications during the year. 
 
Collateral held by the Bank 
 
The gross carrying amount of loans represents the maximum exposure of credit risk at the end of the reporting period without 
taking account of any collateral held by the Bank. Collateral held by the Bank include mortgaged properties, pledges taken 
over cash and financial investments. The fair value of these collaterals are assessed at the time of borrowing, updated on 
atleast a three year cycle, subject to the availability of appropriate data sets .The Bank has the first charge over the mortgaged 
properties. Where a loan demonstrates material deterioration in credit risk or increased probability of default, collateral 
valuation is reassessed. 
 
A substantial portion of the loans and advances are due from residents of Bermuda and are secured by residential or 
commercial property in Bermuda 
 
The credit impaired assets as of September 30, 2025 was $4,800 (2024: $ nil). The aggregate discounted value of collateral 
held by the Bank for credit impaired assets reported at September 30, 2025 was $nil (2024: $ nil). 
 
Assets modified during the year 
 
Several loans had their payment periods and interest rates modified during the year and the total amount due as at September 
30, 2025 was $18,337,735 (2024: $1,255,281). 
  
Average effective yields 
 
The average effective yields earned were as follows: 

 2025 2024 
Commercial loans 5.89% 5.71% 
Commercial overdrafts 9.86% 7.47% 
Commercial mortgage loans 5.50% 5.50% 
Consumer mortgage loans 5.64% 5.24% 
Government backed mortgages 5.00% 5.00% 
Other 2.96% 3.95% 

 
The average effective yields represent both fixed and variable interest rates.  
 
Outstanding credit card balances are charged interest at 16% per annum. 
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7. Property and equipment 
 

2025 

 Equipment 
 

Land 
 

Building 
 

 Total 
 

Cost      
Beginning of year $ 1,449,952 $ 1,306,800 $ 12,822,269  $ 15,579,021 
Additions   144,199  -  -   144,199 

End of year $ 1,594,151 $ 1,306,800 $ 12,822,269  $ 15,723,220 

          
Accumulated Depreciation          
Beginning of year $ 1,359,144 $ - $ 2,570,204  $ 3,929,348 
Depreciation charge   34,419  -  320,557   354,976 
End of year  1,393,563  -  2,890,761   4,284,324 

Net book value at end of year $ 200,588 $ 1,306,800 $ 9,931,508  $ 11,438,896 

 
 

2024 

 Equipment 
 

Land 
 

Building 
 

 Total 
 

Cost      
Beginning of year $ 1,387,515 $ 1,306,800 $ 12,822,269  $ 15,516,584 
Additions   62,437  -  -   62,437 

End of year $ 1,449,952 $ 1,306,800 $ 12,822,269  $ 15,579,021 

          
Accumulated Depreciation          
Beginning of year $    1,327,814 $ - $  2,249,647  $  3,577,461 
Depreciation charge   31,330  -  320,557   351,887 
End of year  1,359,144  -  2,570,204   3,929,348 

Net book value at end of year $ 90,808 $ 1,306,800 $ 10,252,065  $ 11,649,673 
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8. Intangible assets 

 
 

 
Amortisation of computer software is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost to its residual value over 
its estimated useful life. Amortisation commences once the software is available for use. 

 
Computer software – WIP represents the Virtual Accounts Solution (“VAS”) and Virtual Accounts Application Programming 
Interface (“API”). The VAS and Virtual Accounts API are sill under development and the total cost of $409,853 and $91,563 
respectively were capitalized in relation to these projects. Prior to the go live date, all costs incurred towards the projects have 
been recorded under Work in Progress.  
 
The Bank has developed Virtual Accounts API as secure, standardized programming interfaces to enable clients to make 
payments, retrieve account data and transactional data. These projects are part of the Bank’s strategic priorities to enhance 
digital capabilities, allowing for improved functionality and accessibility for customers and providing a robust technology 
platform for expanding service offerings. 

 

 2025 

 Computer software 
Computer software 

– WIP 
Total  

Cost     
Beginning of year $ 13,951,193 $ 38,950 $ 13,990,143  
Additions   240,539    501,416  741,955  
Capitalized   38,950    (38,950)  -  
End of year  14,230,682  501,416  14,732,098  
        

Accumulated amortisation and impairment        
Beginning of year  11,390,586  -  11,390,586  
Amortisation charge for the year  391,202  -  391,202  
End of year  11,781,788  -  11,781,788  
Net book value at end of year $ 2,448,894 $ 501,416 $ 2,950,310  

 2024 

 Computer software 
Computer software 

– WIP 
Total  

Cost     
Beginning of year $ 11,295,749 $ 910,059 $ 12,205,808  
Additions  -  1,784,335  1,784,335  
Capitalized  2,655,444  (2,655,444)  -  
End of year  13,951,193  38,950  13,990,143  
        

Accumulated amortisation and impairment        
Beginning of year  11,294,223  -  11,294,223  
Amortisation charge for the year  96,363  -  96,363  
End of year  11,390,586  -  11,390,586  
Net book value at end of year $ 2,560,607 $ 38,950 $ 2,599,557  
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9.   Other assets 

 
Other assets were made up of: 

  2025  2024 
     
Accounts receivable, net of ECL $  304,050  $ 255,608 
Accrued income   159,406   184,274 
Prepayments   1,735,991   1,236,871 
     
Total $ 2,199,447 $ 1,676,753 

 
The ECL allowance recorded at September 30, 2025 in accordance with IFRS 9 was $567,362 (2024: $549,029). In 2024, a 
total of $1,419,803 receivable from Base Financial Ltd. was written off. The ECL charge for the year is $18,332 (2024: nil). 

10.   Deposits 
 
Deposits were made up of: 

 2025  2024 
    
    
Demand deposits $    372,849,432 $   145,283,565 
Term deposits:    

Deposits maturing within 1 month  19,848,919     31,366,734 
Deposits maturing – 1-3 months  54,491,613   60,014,029 
Deposits maturing – 3-12 months  103,548,473   101,381,171 
Deposits maturing – 1-5 years  72,354,932   33,396,035 

    
 250,243,937  226,157,969 
    
Total $    623,093,369 $    371,441,534 

 
 
The average annual effective rates paid were as follows: 
 2025 2024 
 
Term deposits based on book values and contractual interest rates 3.43% 3.33% 
Demand deposits 1.37% 1.27% 
 
 

11. Other liabilities 
 
Other liabilities were made up of: 

 2025  2024 
    
Accounts payable  $      3,706,135  $  5,393,889 
Accrued liabilities  1,103,521   651,998 
    
Total $      4,809,656 $  6,045,887 
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12.   Equity 
 
All shares are common shares with a par value of $2.40 each: 
 

 
Authorised 

shares Par value 
Issued & fully 

paid shares Par value 
Share 

premium 
Balance at September 30, 
2024 10,000,000  24,000,000  7,003,318  16,807,963  22,131,188 

Shares issued during the year     2,962,964  7,111,114  12,888,893 

Balance at September 30, 2025  10,000,000  24,000,000  9,966,282  23,919,077  35,020,081 
 

On July 11, 2025, the Bank issued 740,741 ordinary shares to the shareholder for a capital injection of $5,000,002 at $6.75 
per share. On September 30, 2025, the shareholder made an additional capital injection of $15,000,005 for 2,222,223 ordinary 
shares at $6.75 per share. After the injections, the Shareholder holds a total of 9,966,282 ordinary shares. 
 
Regulatory capital 
 
The Bermuda Monetary Authority (“BMA”) adopts the Basel III Accord which requires detailed disclosures on regulatory capital 
and risk management. The BMA assesses the risk of each banking institution and determines a Pillar 2 individual capital 
guidance for each bank. The Bank has complied with all minimum capital requirements prescribed by the BMA and at 
September 30, 2025, the Bank’s Tier 1 and total regulatory capital ratios 40.90% (2024: 30.79%) and 40.90% (2024: 30.79%) 
respectively and leverage ratio of 9.49% (2024: 12.42%) and exceeded the required minimum. 
 
Capital management 
 
The Bank maintains its capital base and capital ratios above the regulatory minimum capital requirements. The Bank’s capital 
ratio are continuously reviewed in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the Bank’s activities. 
In order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Bank may adjust the amount of dividend payments to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders or issue new capital securities. 
 

13. Fees and commissions 
 
Fees and commissions are made up as follows: 

 2025  2024 
    
Banking services  $    1,146,219      $    1,029,353 
Custody services  587,777   625,666 
    
Total $    1,733,996  $     1,655,019 

 
14. Gains (losses) from financial investments 

 
Net gain (loss) from financial investments are made up as follows: 

    
 2025  2024 

On derecognition of financial investments measured at FVOCI  $         717,408        $     (408,447) 
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15. Other operating income 
 

 2025  2024 
    
Lease income from operating leases $       662,292         $       578,955 
Income from unclaimed dormant balances       328,504               - 
    
Total $       990,796         $       578,955 

 
Lease income from operating leases includes the rent earned on building premises rented out by the Bank.  
 
During the year, the Bank recognized $0.3 million under other income, representing long‑outstanding unclaimed dormant 
balances that had previously been recorded as other liabilities. No significant costs were incurred in the recovery process. 
 
The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease receivables, showing the undiscounted lease payments to be received 
after the reporting date. 
 

 2025  2024 

Gross Investments in operating leases, receivable    

Less than one year    $        326,627     $         322,198 

Between one and two years  467,601                461,695 

Between two and three years  467,601                461,695 

Between three and four years  467,601                461,695 

Between four and five years  467,601                461,695 

More than five years  926,283             1,370,260 

    
Total $      3,123,314  $      3,539,238       

 
16. General and administrative expenses 

 
General and administrative expenses are made up as follows:  

 2025  2024 
Advertising and marketing $           218,166       $           96,431 
Audit fees  585,546   607,352 
Banking services and licenses  655,969   600,985 
Directors’ fees  606,876   403,430 
Information technology and systems  2,125,520   1,902,080 
Investment advisory fees  180,171   257,357 
Insurance  264,548   269,704 
Premises related costs  441,679   414,899 
Professional fees  1,993,187   1,360,105 
Sub-custodian charges  253,536   273,414 
One-off project costs  -     3,986,718 
Deposit Insurance Premiums 346,095  285,318 
Travel and Accommodation 259,808  88,204 
Other administrative 828,639  320,028 
    
Total $          8,759,740  $   10,866,025 
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17.   Related party disclosures 
 

Related party transactions including shareholder controllers and the related parties of shareholder controllers 
 
The Bank provides banking services and enters into related party transactions including shareholder controllers and the related 
parties of shareholder controllers under the same terms as an unrelated party would receive. Outstanding balances and/or 
related party transactions including shareholder controllers and the related parties of shareholder controllers were as follows: 

 
Consultancy services provided by Base Financial Ltd. 
 
During the year, the Bank incurred $440,895 (2024: $773,500) for consultancy services provided by Base Financial Ltd. to the 
Bank under a temporary employment arrangement and it has been recorded as part of salaries and employee benefits on the 
Consolidated Statement of Income.  
 
Loans and advances to customers 
 
At September 30, 2025, total loans and advances receivable from related parties amounted to $1,488,638 (2024: $8,768,395), 
which was fully secured by publicly listed securities owned by the borrower, cash deposits, guarantee, share certificates and 
properties. The undrawn portion of credit facilities granted to these related parties at September 30, 2025 was $nil (2024: 
$nil). The ECL allowance for the loans and advances receivable from related parties is nil (2024: $2,375). 
  
For the year ended September 30, 2025, the Bank earned net interest income and fees of $185,362 (2024: $499,689) for 
banking and other services provided to such related parties. There are no impairment provisions held against any of the above 
related parties balances. 
 
Deposit liabilities 
 
At September 30, 2025, deposit balances held by related parties with the Bank amounted to $662,475 (2024: $896,377). 

 
Transactions with key management personnel 
 
Total Directors’ fees for the year ended September 30, 2025, amounted to $606,876 (2024: $403,430). The Bank provides 
banking services to Board of Directors under the same terms as an unrelated party would receive. At September 30, 2025, 
Board of Directors and parties associated with Board of Directors had deposit balances with the Bank of $124,075 (2024: 
$145,240). At September 30, 2025, total loans and advances receivable from Board Directors and parties associated with 
Board of Directors (not disclosed above) amounted to $488,638 (2024: $1,314,261), and the undrawn portion of credit facilities 
committed, amounted to $nil (2024: $nil).  
 
Loans and advances to related parties are secured and bear interest rates that fall within the range of rates charged to third-
party borrowers. 
 
Deposit interest expense from Board of Directors for the year was $3,259 while net interest income and fees earned in 2024 
was $449. 

 
Compensation of key management personnel of the Bank  
 
The Bank classifies the Board of Directors of the Bank and executive committee as key management personnel. For the year 
ended September 30, 2025, the total compensation paid to key management personnel amounted to $1,953,808 (2024: 
$2,284,459), excluding the Directors’ fees. 
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17.   Related party disclosures (continued) 
 

Principal subsidiary undertakings at September 30, 2025 
 

Name    % ownership     Location 
   

BCB Asset Management Limited 100.00  Bermuda 
Bercom Nominees Limited 100.00  Bermuda 
VT Strategies Holdings Limited 100.00  Bermuda 
 
BCB as the sole shareholder of these companies provides financial and administrative support to its subsidiaries for at least, 
but not limited to 12 months from the date these consolidated financial statements are issued.  
 

18. Salaries and employee benefits 
 
The Bank meets the minimum requirements of the Bermuda National Pension Scheme (Occupational Pensions) Act 1998, 
and related amendments and regulations. Under this legislation, the Bank contributes to its employees’ pension requirements 
using a defined contribution plan at the rates below, following the completion of 720 hours of work for new staff: 
 
- If service exceeded 15 years before May 2022: 5% of gross salary for the first 15 years and 10% thereafter 
- All others: 5% of gross salary  
 
As permitted under the legislation, staff members are required to contribute a minimum of 5% annually based on the 
employees’ pensionable earnings. Staff members who completed 15 years of service prior to May 2022 are not required to 
make contributions. 

 
The scheme is administered by an independent party and all such funds are segregated from the assets and liabilities of the 
Bank. Pension expense incurred during 2025 amounted to $498,629 (2024: $475,541) and is included within salaries and 
employee benefits in the Consolidated Statement of Income. 
 
On November 8, 2024, the Bank approved the 2024 Management Incentive Plan, which aimed to provide certain individuals 
with an incentive to contribute to the long-term success of the Bank. 
 
The Plan allows for the issuance of up to 610,000 shares in stock options. The Exercise Price for these options will be at least 
100% of the Fair Market Value of a share on the grant date and not less than the par value of a share. The Board will determine 
the exercise periods and expiration dates, which will not exceed 10 years from the grant date. 
 
During the year, there were no issued stock options as part of this incentive plan. 
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19. Commitments and contingent liabilities 
 
Commitments 
 
At September 30, 2025, the Bank was committed to $6,518,321 (2024: $3,967,339) in undrawn credit facilities. This amount 
relates to the undrawn portion of approved commercial loans, unused portion of approved overdraft facilities and credit card 
limits. 

 
Capital commitments in relation to the Virtual Account Solution and Virtual Account APIs that was in progress as of September 
30, 2025, was $42,720. The cost incurred to date is disclosed under Computer software - WIP in Note 8. Prior year capital 
commitments of $38,950 relates to the Open Banking API project which went live in May 2025.  
 
Contingent liabilities 
 
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank and its subsidiaries can, from time to time, be defendant in, or party to, pending and 
contingent legal actions or proceedings. The Bank is also subject to periodic regulatory reviews or actions of the Banking 
Regulator. In relation to these matters, the Bank is required to recognise a provision for a liability when it is probable that an 
outflow of economic benefits would be required to settle an obligation which has arisen as a result of past events, and for which 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. While the outcome of such events is inherently uncertain and 
cannot be reliably measured, based on the information currently available to management, no provision is necessary in respect 
of legal proceedings or regulatory actions as at September 30, 2025 (2024: None). 
 

20. Risk management 
 
The Bank is exposed to a wide range of financial and non-financial risks and maintains a comprehensive approach to effectively 
manage these risks through a defined enterprise risk management framework (“ERMF”). This framework outlines how these risks 
are categorized and managed to ensure strategic goals are achieved whilst protecting the Bank’s customers’ funds and providing 
responsible products and services that support the markets in which it operates. 
 
The Bank’s ERMF is designed on core principles of maintaining a sound risk culture, delivering effective governance, ensuring 
all risks are clearly understood and appropriately prioritized with a forward-looking approach and the provision of robust monitoring 
and reporting. 

 
Risk culture 
 
The fostering of a sound risk culture is a key responsibility of the Bank’s Executive Management. This is achieved by establishing 
and exercising accountability, promoting risk awareness and encouraging a proactive approach to the identification and mitigation 
of risks. These responsibilities are laid out in the governance framework and policies and supported by the Bank’s Code of 
Conduct.  

 
A wide range of training is provided on key risk topics to ensure appropriate technical risk skills are developed and maintained at 
all levels of the organisation whilst also raising awareness of critical risk issues. The Bank also ensures a safe environment for 
any staff member to confidentially escalate any concerns through provision of a whistleblowing framework. The Bank’s risk culture 
is reinforced through its employee performance management framework and approach to remuneration which incorporates 
behavioural values.   
 
Governance 
 
Robust and effective risk governance ensures clear accountability for the management of risk is embedded at every level within 
the Bank. The Board of Directors (“the Board”) is ultimately responsible for oversight of the enterprise-wide risk management of 
the Bank and its alignment with the organisation’s objectives and strategies. The Board’s responsibilities include understanding 
the Bank’s risk exposures, defining its risk appetite, and establishing risk measurement parameters that reflect its risk appetite.  
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20. Risk management (continued) 
 

Governance (continued) 
 
The Board utilizes an underlying committee structure that oversees Executive Management’s implementation of an effective risk 
management function. 
 
The Bank’s corporate governance practices are consistent with the BMA’s Corporate Governance Policy (December 2012) that 
sets out the 13 principles and related guidance applicable to deposit taking institutions licensed under the Banks and Deposits 
Companies Act 1999 of Bermuda. 
 
The Board Audit and Risk Committee (“BARC”) acts as the primary committee under the Board for oversight of risk. It maintains 
broad responsibility over matters relating to the Bank’s risk exposure, including definition, measurement, assessment, policy 
setting, and risk mitigation strategies. It establishes the ’tone from the top’, and sets the expectations and requirements for risk 
management by Executive Management and the underlying management committees. The Governance Committee’s (“GC”) 
remit is to oversee all Human Resources matters, policies and procedures and any other matters concerning Employees and 
management excluding remuneration and compensation decisions which are primarily the responsibility of the Compensation 
Committee. Below these Board level committees are a series of management level committees that further divide responsibility 
and oversight within the ERMF including the Executive Committee (“EXCO”), the Asset and Liability Management Committee 
(“ALCO”) and the Management Risk Committee (“MRC”). Through this governance structure, the Bank’s Executive Management 
are responsible for the practical execution of the ERMF and ongoing oversight as required by the Board. 
 
BCB has adopted the three lines model which addresses how specific duties related to risk and control are segregated and 
coordinated. All employees are responsible for identifying and managing risk within the scope of their role as part of this 
framework. The first line are the risk owners that operate within the business units of the bank. This includes client-facing staff 
as well as non-client facing support functions (e.g. Operations, Technology and Finance). Employees in the first line are 
accountable for the risk-taking activities and the results, ramifications and opportunities of those activities; establishing 
appropriate operating procedures and internal control systems; performing regular assessments or testing of controls; 
monitoring risk exposures against established appetite; and reporting exceptions and incidents in a timely manner. The second 
line provides risk oversight through the Risk and Compliance functions that provide guidance to, and oversight of, the first line 
through the setting of risk policies, limits and processes that ensure adherence to required standards and parameters.  

Critically this requires identification, measurement, monitoring and reporting of the Group’s aggregated risk exposures through 
the risk governance framework. In addition to the above, there are other key operational functions that may have a mixture of 
first and second line of defence duties.  These are Legal, Human Resources, segments of Finance and Information 
Technology. The third line is the Internal Audit (IA) function which provides independent and objective assurance over the 
adequacy of design and operational effectiveness of the first and second line functions. 

Significant risk categories 
 
Risk is inherent in all of the Bank’s business activities whether these are actively taken to maximise shareholder value (financial 
risks) or those that arise as a consequence of its activities (non-financial risks). The primary financial risks that the Bank faces 
are credit risk, treasury risk, and market risk, and the primary non-financial risks are operational risk, compliance risk and 
strategic & reputational risk. 
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20. Risk management (continued) 
 
Credit risk  
 
Credit risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a loss because its customers or counterparties fail to discharge their contractual 
obligations. The Bank manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is willing to accept for individual 
counterparties and for geographical and industry concentrations, and by monitoring exposures in relation to such limits.  

 
Credit risk for financial assets measured at AC and debt instruments measured at FVOCI are also reviewed in accordance 
with the ECL measurement principles discussed under significant accounting policies in Note 2. These reviews include but 
are not limited to staging of financial assets. Staging of financial assets is based on the significance of the increase in credit 
risk compared to the credit risk at the time of initial recognition. Provision matrices for less complex assets are based on the 
actual performance of the underlying group of assets in the past.  
 
The Bank regularly reviews the methodologies and assumptions applied in its ECL calculations to ensure they reflect prevailing 
and expected market conditions. ECL allowances are based on the economic information available at September 30, 2025. 
Please refer to Notes 5, 6 and 9 for more details on the ECL allowances recorded during the year on financial assets measured 
at AC and FVOCI.   
 
All counterparty banks and money market funds must be approved by the Bank’s ALCO. The maximum amount that may be 
lent to any single bank via the deposit market is governed by a number of controlling variables including the external credit 
ratings for that bank. Counterparty lending limits are reviewed semi-annually and are adjusted if the capital ratio of a 
counterparty bank changes, or if the credit rating of a counterparty bank goes below the rating levels identified above. 
 
Treasury risk 
 
Treasury risk is broken down into (a) liquidity and funding risk which is defined as the risk that the Bank will be unable to meet 
its contractual or contingent obligations or that it does not have the appropriate amount, tenor and composition of funding and 
liquidity to support its assets, and; (b) capital risk which is defined as the risk of insufficient capital to support its normal 
business activities and to meet its regulatory capital requirements. 
 
To limit this risk, management has adopted policies that prioritize liquidity among the parameters for asset selection. 
Additionally, management monitors the term structure of the Bank’s current funding, its future cash flows, and the market 
liquidity of its balance sheet assets on a daily basis. Management adheres to conservative parameters using a defined capital 
risk management framework to ensure regulatory capital adequacy is maintained at all times. 
 

 
The Bank maintains significant balances of short maturity interbank deposits, along with a diversified portfolio of mainly highly 
liquid and marketable assets that can be liquidated in the event of an unforeseen cash outflow. The Bank’s liquidity position 
is assessed daily and is strategically managed over the long run to be capable of handling a variety of stress scenarios, 
including those related to systemic market conditions and those related specifically to the Bank. 
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20. Risk management (continued) 

Treasury risk (continued) 
 

Maturity profile 
The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Bank’s assets and liabilities as at September 30, 2025 and 2024. 
Repayments which are subject to notice are treated as if notice were to be given immediately. However, the Bank expects 
that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date the Bank could be required to pay, and the table does 
not reflect the expected cash flows indicated by the Bank’s deposit retention history. 

 
 2025 
 

Within  
1 month 1-3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years 

Over  
5 years 

ECL 
allowance Total 

Financial assets        
Cash and cash 

equivalents $ 301,128,012 $ 118,263,100 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 419,391,112 
Interest receivable  766,882  534,008  268,597  10,892  73,035  -  1,653,414 
Other assets   1,657,512  -  1,504  -  -  (567,362)  1,091,654 
Loans and advances to 

customers  276,634  3,000,000  5,296,814  9,971,426  75,307,874  (219,948)  93,632,800 
Financial investments  2,960,772  3,994,400  75,496,485  81,911,830  241,646  -  164,605,133 
Derivative financial 

instruments  27,111  -  -  -    -  27,111 

 $ 306,816,923 $ 125,791,508 $ 81,063,400 $ 91,894,148 $ 75,622,555 $ (787,310) $ 680,401,224 

Financial liabilities               
Deposits  392,698,351  54,491,613  103,548,473  72,354,932  -  -  623,093,369 
Derivative financial 

instruments  27,090  -  -  -  -  -  27,090 
Other liabilities  2,249,300  152,875  134,158  831,677  338,125  -  3,706,135 
Interest payable  320,135  395,181  2,498,520  809,412  -  -  4,023,248 

  395,294,876  55,039,669  106,181,151  73,996,021  338,125  -  630,849,842 
Net financial assets 

(liabilities) $ (88,477,953) $ 70,751,839 $ (25,117,751) $ 17,898,127 $ 75,284,430 $ (787,310) $ 49,551,382 
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20. Risk management (continued) 

       Treasury risk (continued 
 

 2024 
 

Within  
1 month 1-3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years 

Over  
5 years 

ECL 
allowance Total 

Financial assets        
Cash and cash 

equivalents $ 153,576,775 $ 53,232,480 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 206,809,255 
Interest receivable  393,726  763,888  322,757  36,978  56,446  -  1,573,795 
Other assets   978,840  -  10,071  -  -  (549,029)  439,882 
Loans and advances to 

customers  256,540  3,796,126  7,500,000  14,298,385  59,082,130  (109,561)  84,823,620 
Financial investments  3,344  8,282,920  23,766,340  90,379,645  2,470,276  -  124,902,525 
Derivative financial 

instruments  7,804  -  -  -  -  -  7,804 

 $ 155,217,029 $ 66,075,414 $ 31,599,168 $ 104,715,008 $ 61,608,852 $ (658,590) $ 418,556,881 

Financial liabilities               
Deposits  176,650,299  60,014,029  101,381,171  33,396,035  -  -  371,441,534 
Customer drafts payable  58,418  -  -  -  -  -  58,418 
Derivative financial 

instruments  7,804  -  -  -  -  -  7,804 
Other liabilities  1,817,588  132,208  1,908,594  1,342,181  193,317  -  5,393,888 
Interest payable  556,334  880,813  1,905,438  438,879  -  -  3,781,464 

  179,090,443   61,027,050  105,195,203  35,177,095  193,317  -  380,683,108 
Net financial assets 

(liabilities) $ (23,873,414)  $ 5,048,364 $ (73,596,035) $ 69,537,913 $ 61,415,535 $ (658,590) $ 37,873,773 

 
Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market 
variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices. The market risk for the Bank’s financial instruments 
is managed and monitored using sensitivity analyses. This analysis is performed using market information and in practice, the 
actual trading results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference could be material. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair values of financial 
instruments. 
 
Interest rate movements cause changes in interest income and interest expense, and although these changes move in the same 
direction, their relative magnitude will favorably or unfavorably impact net interest income and the economic value of equity. The 
extent of that impact depends on several factors, including matching of asset and liability maturities and the interest rate term 
structure. Assets and liabilities are managed to optimize the impact of interest rate movements in view of anticipated rate changes. 
 
The following table demonstrates the Bank’s sensitivity to a change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant. The 
sensitivity of the economic value of the Bank’s shareholders equity is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on net 
interest income and market value of the financial assets.  
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20. Risk management (continued) 

       Treasury risk (continued 
 

 2024 
 

Within  
1 month 1-3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years 

Over  
5 years 

ECL 
allowance Total 

Financial assets        
Cash and cash 

equivalents $ 153,576,775 $ 53,232,480 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 206,809,255 
Interest receivable  393,726  763,888  322,757  36,978  56,446  -  1,573,795 
Other assets   978,840  -  10,071  -  -  (549,029)  439,882 
Loans and advances to 

customers  256,540  3,796,126  7,500,000  14,298,385  59,082,130  (109,561)  84,823,620 
Financial investments  3,344  8,282,920  23,766,340  90,379,645  2,470,276  -  124,902,525 
Derivative financial 

instruments  7,804  -  -  -  -  -  7,804 

 $ 155,217,029 $ 66,075,414 $ 31,599,168 $ 104,715,008 $ 61,608,852 $ (658,590) $ 418,556,881 

Financial liabilities               
Deposits  176,650,299  60,014,029  101,381,171  33,396,035  -  -  371,441,534 
Customer drafts payable  58,418  -  -  -  -  -  58,418 
Derivative financial 

instruments  7,804  -  -  -  -  -  7,804 
Other liabilities  1,817,588  132,208  1,908,594  1,342,181  193,317  -  5,393,888 
Interest payable  556,334  880,813  1,905,438  438,879  -  -  3,781,464 

  179,090,443   61,027,050  105,195,203  35,177,095  193,317  -  380,683,108 
Net financial assets 

(liabilities) $ (23,873,414)  $ 5,048,364 $ (73,596,035) $ 69,537,913 $ 61,415,535 $ (658,590) $ 37,873,773 

 
Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market 
variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices. The market risk for the Bank’s financial instruments 
is managed and monitored using sensitivity analyses. This analysis is performed using market information and in practice, the 
actual trading results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference could be material. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair values of financial 
instruments. 
 
Interest rate movements cause changes in interest income and interest expense, and although these changes move in the same 
direction, their relative magnitude will favorably or unfavorably impact net interest income and the economic value of equity. The 
extent of that impact depends on several factors, including matching of asset and liability maturities and the interest rate term 
structure. Assets and liabilities are managed to optimize the impact of interest rate movements in view of anticipated rate changes. 
 
The following table demonstrates the Bank’s sensitivity to a change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant. The 
sensitivity of the economic value of the Bank’s shareholders equity is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on net 
interest income and market value of the financial assets.  
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20. Risk management (continued) 
 2025 2024 
200-basis-point increase in interest rates 
Impact on Economic Value of Equity $  (693,447) $ (2,343,684) 
 
200-basis-point decrease in interest rates 
Impact on Economic Value of Equity  $ 599,009 $ 2,343,684 
 
Foreign Currency Risk 
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of assets and liabilities will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 
The Board of Directors has set limits on positions by currency. In accordance with the Bank’s policy, positions are monitored 
on a daily basis and hedging strategies are used to ensure positions are maintained within established limits. A 10 per cent 
increase in the FX rates to which the Bank had significant exposure at September 30, 2025 would have decreased net income 
and equity by $20,164 (2024: $9,937). An equivalent decrease in these same FX rates would have resulted in an equivalent 
but opposite impact. 

 
Operational risk 
 
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external 
events. The Bank is exposed to operational risk as a direct or indirect consequence of its normal business activities, as arising 
in the day-to-day execution of business processes, the functioning of its technologies and in the various activities performed 
by its staff, contractors and vendors. Operational risk is relevant to every aspect of the Bank and covers a wide range of areas 
including, amongst others, financial crime compliance, regulatory compliance, fraud, cyber security, technology and conduct 
risks. As the Bank transforms its business activities to meet strategic objectives, this can increase operational risks. The Bank 
manages operational risk via a comprehensive and standalone Operational Risk Management Framework (“ORMF”) which 
outlines the required policies, processes and responsibilities. A key aspect of the ORMF is the Risk and Control Self-
Assessment (“RCSA”) process which identifies and evaluates the operational risks across all of the Bank’s businesses and 
determines if these are effectively controlled within acceptable parameters. Where deficiencies are detected, formal action is 
taken to address these. The results of the RCSA drive the first and second line of defence control monitoring and testing 
regime, which is monitored through the MRC. The Bank also operates a defined process to govern how operational risk 
incidents are managed to ensure sustainable control improvements are delivered, and how operational losses are calculated, 
categorized and reported 
 

21. Financial instruments 
 
The Bank uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation 
technique: 
 
Level 1: inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments; 
 
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly 
(i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using quoted market prices in active markets for similar 
instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation 
techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data; 

 
Level 3: inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the valuation technique includes inputs 
not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. 
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21. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models and other valuation models. Changes in 
unobservable inputs may result in a significantly higher or lower fair value measurement.  
 
The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price that would be received to sell the 
asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
 
The Bank uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the fair value of common and more simple financial 
instruments, such as currency swaps that use only observable market data and require little management judgment and 
estimation. Observable prices or model inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities, 
exchange-traded derivatives and simple over-the-counter derivatives. The availability of observable market prices and model 
inputs reduces the need for management judgment and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated with 
determining fair values. The availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets 
and is prone to changes based on specific events and general conditions in the financial markets. 
 
Derivative financial instruments 
 
The fair value of the Bank’s derivative financial instruments, which are estimated using a valuation technique with market 
observable inputs include foreign exchange forward contracts. The most frequently applied valuation technique for forward 
contracts includes the forward pricing model which incorporates various inputs including the forward rates.  
 
Financial instruments recorded at fair value 
 
Financial investments 
 
Certain financial investments, where applicable, are valued using valuation techniques and include unquoted equity and debt 
securities. These assets are valued using models that use both observable and unobservable data. The unobservable inputs 
to the models include the review of the historical financial and operating results of the investee and its underlying investments, 
assumptions regarding the expected future financial performance and the risk profile of the investee and its underlying 
investments, and economic assumptions regarding the industry and geographical jurisdiction in which the investee and its 
underlying investments operate. 

 
The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

.
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21. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models and other valuation models. Changes in 
unobservable inputs may result in a significantly higher or lower fair value measurement.  
 
The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price that would be received to sell the 
asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
 
The Bank uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the fair value of common and more simple financial 
instruments, such as currency swaps that use only observable market data and require little management judgment and 
estimation. Observable prices or model inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities, 
exchange-traded derivatives and simple over-the-counter derivatives. The availability of observable market prices and model 
inputs reduces the need for management judgment and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated with 
determining fair values. The availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets 
and is prone to changes based on specific events and general conditions in the financial markets. 
 
Derivative financial instruments 
 
The fair value of the Bank’s derivative financial instruments, which are estimated using a valuation technique with market 
observable inputs include foreign exchange forward contracts. The most frequently applied valuation technique for forward 
contracts includes the forward pricing model which incorporates various inputs including the forward rates.  
 
Financial instruments recorded at fair value 
 
Financial investments 
 
Certain financial investments, where applicable, are valued using valuation techniques and include unquoted equity and debt 
securities. These assets are valued using models that use both observable and unobservable data. The unobservable inputs 
to the models include the review of the historical financial and operating results of the investee and its underlying investments, 
assumptions regarding the expected future financial performance and the risk profile of the investee and its underlying 
investments, and economic assumptions regarding the industry and geographical jurisdiction in which the investee and its 
underlying investments operate. 

 
The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy: 
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  21. Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Financial instruments recorded at fair value (continued) 
 
       Financial investments (continued)      
                                                                                                                                     2025 

 Level 1 Level 2 Total 
Financial assets       
Derivative financial instruments at FVTPL       
Foreign exchange forward contracts $ - $ 27,111 $ 27,111 
  -  27,111  27,111 
       
Financial investments at FVOCI       
Government debt securities - over 3 months maturity  85,560,420  -  85,560,420 
Corporate debt securities (non-banks)  75,837,480  3,207,233  79,044,713 
  161,397,900  3,207,233  164,605,133 

Government debt securities - within 3 months maturity  242,121,700  -  242,121,700 
 $ 403,519,600 $ 3,234,344 $ 406,753,944 
 
Financial liabilities       
Derivative financial instruments at FVTPL       
Foreign exchange forward contracts  -  27,090  27,090 
 $ - $ 27,090 $ 27,090 

  
There were no level 3 financial instruments as of September 30, 2025. 
 

                                                                                                                                         2024 
 Level 1 Level 2 Total 
Financial assets       
Derivative financial instruments at FVTPL       
Foreign exchange forward contracts   -  7,804  7,804 
 $ - $ 7,804 $ 7,804 
       
Financial investments at FVOCI       
Government debt securities - over 3 months maturity  12,247,500  6,071,660  18,319,160 
Corporate debt securities (non-banks)  106,221,479  256,870  106,478,349 
Asset-backed securities  -  105,016  105,016 
  118,468,979  6,433,546  124,902,525 
Government debt securities - within 3 months maturity  95,524,733  7,373,170  102,897,903 
 $ 213,993,712 $ 13,814,520 $ 227,808,232 
 
Financial liabilities      
Derivative financial instruments at FVTPL       
Foreign exchange forward contracts  -  7,804  7,804 
 $ - $ 7,804 $ 7,804 

 
       There were no level 3 financial instruments as of September 30, 2024. 
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22.  Subsequent events  
        
There have been no significant events or transactions from September 30, 2025 to the date that these financial statements were 
available for issuance that require adjustments to or disclosures in the financial statements. 

However, the following material non-adjusting events are noted: 

 
Increase in Authorised Share Capital 
 
On October 8, 2025, the Bermuda Registrar of Companies approved the filing for an increase in the Bank’s authorised share capital 
from $24,000,000 to $30,000,000. This increase was achieved through the creation of 2,500,000 ordinary shares with a nominal 
value of $2.40 each, to accommodate the Subscription and anticipated future share issuances.  
 
The above events constitute material non-adjusting events, reflecting developments that do not require financial adjustments but 
are relevant for disclosure in the financial statements.  
 
There were no other subsequent events requiring disclosure or recognition in the audited financial statements. 
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BCB ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED	
Incorporated in Bermuda on February 11, 2011.

BERCOM NOMINEES LIMITED	
Incorporated in Bermuda on July 8, 1987.

VT STRATEGIES HOLDINGS LIMITED
Incorporated in Bermuda on December 15, 2010.

Subsidiaries
As at September 30, 2025

Bermuda Commercial Bank Limited and a subsidiary offer a variety of regulated services in Bermuda. Bermuda Commercial Bank Limited is authorised and regulated by the Bermuda Monetary Authority and 
licensed to carry out banking business under the Banks and Deposit Companies Act 1999 and to carry out investment business under the Investment Business Act 2003. Bermuda Commercial Bank Limited 
is a Trading Member of the Bermuda Stock Exchange (“BSX”). BSX is an exchange that acts as a central clearing counterparty for Bermudian securities. Bermuda Commercial Bank Limited provides limited 
execution-only investment services through the BSX. 

Bercom Nominees Limited is authorised and regulated by the Bermuda Monetary Authority and is licensed to carry out business as a Limited corporate services provider pursuant to the Corporate Service Provider 
Business Act 2012.
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It has been said that every tool carries with it the spirit by which it has been created. That there is creativity in process and beauty in structure.
 At Bermuda Commercial Bank, we see the client experience in banking as an art form. Through exacting detail and a meticulous passion  

for our craft, we create inspired results for our clients locally and around the globe.

The offshore digital bank nurturing financial innovation



REGISTERED ADDRESS FOR BERMUDA COMMERCIAL BANK 
LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

34 BERMUDIANA ROAD

HAMILTON HM 11

BERMUDA

MAILING ADDRESS

P.O. BOX HM 1748

HAMILTON HM GX

BERMUDA

T: +1 (441) 295-5678

F: +1 (441) 296-0601

W: WWW.BCB.BM

E: ENQUIRIES@BCB.BM


